
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND 

ENTERPRISE SPC 
 

TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 
 

ON TUESDAY 29 JANUARY 2019 AT 3.30 PM 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
TUESDAY 29 JANUARY 2019

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of Meeting held on 23rd October 2018 & Matters Arising   

 
3 - 4 

2   Dublin.ie: Dublin's placemaking brand-Presentation-Peter Dee/Anthony 
McGuinness-Senior Staff Officer, DCC   
 

 

3   "Your Dublin Your Voice" : Retail Survey   
 

5 - 8 

4   Dublin City Summit Series: Apprenticeship Summit Outcomes Report 2018   
 

9 - 10 

a   Submission of Letter from SPC Chair to Minister for Education 
 

11 - 12 

b   Apprenticeship Summit Outcomes Report 
 

13 - 74 

5   Guinness Enterprise Centre: GEC2 Project Update   
 

75 - 76 

6   SPC Programme of Work 2019   
 

77 - 82 

7   Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports   
 

83 - 100 

8   A.O.B   
 

 

9   Next SPC Meeting: Tuesday 5th March 2019   
 

 

 





 

Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

 
Minutes of Meeting 23rd October 2018 

 

Members Present: 

Cllr. Deirdre Heney (Chair), 

Cllr. Noeleen Reilly, 

Cllr. Paddy Bourke, 

Cllr. Mary Freehill, 

Cllr. Anne Feeney, 

Cllr. Paul McAuliffe, 

Cllr. Norma Sammon, 

Denise Brophy, Dublinia Ltd, 

Evanne Kilmurray, Inner City Enterprise (ICE), 

Geraldine Lavin, Small Firms Association 

 

Officials Present: 

Richard Shakespeare, Assistant Chief Executive, Dublin City Council 

Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise & Economic Development, Dublin City Council 

Mary MacSweeney, Deputy Head of Enterprise % Economic Development, Dublin City Council,  

Grainne Kelly, Head of International Relations, Dublin City Council 

Steven O’Gara, Senior Economic Development Officer, Economic Development & Enterprise, Dublin City Council 

Norman Thompson, Economic Development Researcher, Dublin City Council, 

Juliet Passmore, Economic Development Researcher, Dublin City Council. 

 

 

1 Minutes of Meeting held on 24th July  2018 & Matters Arising  

The minutes from the meeting held on the 24th July were agreed. 

 

2 Introducing the Circular Economy: EMRWO 

The chair welcomed Dr Joanne O’Rourke from Eastern Midlands Regional Waste Office (EMRWO). Dr O’Rourke presented on the 

Circular Economy and the work with Dublin City Council and how it can be more resource efficient and environmentally friendly. 

Dr O’Rourke advised that the circular economy is an economy in which it keeps resources in use for as long as possible, extracts the 

maximum value when in use and then we can recover and regenerate products at the end of each service life. Dr O’Rourke spoke 

about businesses fostering competitive advantages through the use of the environmental benefits and the circular economy. 

 

3 MODAS: Sustainable Business Training 

Mr. O’Gara advised the committee on the MODAS programme and how it will increase awareness of the factors in the circular 

economy for small businesses. The chair thanked both Dr O’Rourke and Mr. O’Gara for their presentations and work for the Circular 

Economy. The chair asked if there was a cost to businesses getting involved in the programme. Mr. O’Gara stated there would be a 

very modest fee and it would in the margin of couple of hundred euros’s which would be heavily subsidised. 

Cllr. Feeney asked in terms of businesses how to incentivise the new programme, get the branding out in their promotion or is there a 

downside etc. Dr. O’Rourke advised that there may be national penalties, but the programme is for SME’s and it is more about 

developing their knowledge on the circular economy. Dr O’Rourke advised that with regards to the MODOS brand there will there be a 

company who will accredit it and look at the course but this has not been finalised yet. Cllr. Sammon asked if larger supermarkets or 

entities will be approached to get involved in the circular economy. Dr O’Rourke advised that this is mainly for SME’s and not larger 

companies at the present. Cllr. Freehill queried if there is government policies or procedures along local authorities that work from EU 

legislation. 

Page 3



Dr O’Rourke advised that the office is underpinned by EU legislation. Mr O’Gara advised that details on the topic could be researched 

and shown at a future meeting. Ms. Brophy advised about the significant time frame and level of commitment involved in the 

programme and how it may be too much for a SME to commit too. She advised she would be happy to help in any way to further 

develop the idea. Ms. Kilmurray advised that social enterprises are very involved in this zone and they would be worthwhile targeting. 

Mr O’Gara said it is a significant commitment but the added values to SME’s are immense in the long term. 

 

4 Your Dublin Your Voice- Culture & Arts Survey results August 2018 

The chair welcomed Ms. Juliet Passmore, Research Officer in Economic Development. Ms Passmore presented on the Culture & Arts 

survey and how the results and impact have been very positive from the city on the arts and culture but they feel it could be more 

widely promoted in the digital space. The chair thanked Ms. Passmore for her presentation and also was in agreement regarding the 

marketing and promotion of cultural events in the city and advised that the City Council needs to continually look at this. 

Ms. Brophy stated that the use of the Dublin.ie platform for the marketing and promotion of cultural events would be a useful tool and 

that more spend on both would be welcomed. Cllr. Feeney stated more widespread knowledge on the Dublin.ie brand needed. Cllr. 

Feeney also questioned what will be happening next with regards to the survey. Cllr. McAuliffe would like a wider survey of the Your 

Dublin Your Voice before May and also echoes the Dublin.ie brand. Cllr. McAuliffe requested a presentation at future SPC from the 

Dublin.ie team. Cllr. Freehill stated that the loss of departments and staff is a big factor as they would have been running these things. 

Cllr. Flynn advised on the culture connects team that could be used to promote these activities. Mr. Shakespeare stated that they are 

focusing on the Dublin.ie brand and promotion of this. 

 

5 Social Enterprise & Dublin City Council 

The chair introduced Mr. Norman Thompson, Research Officer in Economic Development. Mr. Thompson presented on social 

enterprise as a whole aswel as social enterprises in Dublin City. Cllr. Flynn advised that it is a very relevant sector and that a 

researched policy would be very useful for the sector to push out the benefits further. Ms. Kilmurray agreed on how Ireland lacks in 

the social enterprise area but stated that Dublin City Council is the only council in Ireland who offer social enterprise grants and their 

development. The downside would be the public procurement policy. Cllr. Feeney commended on the presentation and echoed Cllr. 

Flynn comments. The chair fully supports all the comments made on the social enterprise, the implementation of a policy and looks 

forward to the policy being presented to the SPC on a future date. 

 

6 Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports  

Mr. Swift presented on the upcoming events over the coming weeks, in particular Start up Week, Dementia Inclusive projects and The 

Apprenticeship Summit. Mr. Swift spoke on the recent San Jose delegation visit which was a huge success. The Chair thanked Ms. 

Kelly International Relations for her hard work and organisation skills on the recent delegation visit. 

 

7 Any other Business  

Mr. Swift advised that all SPC members and Councillors are invited to attend the Guinness Enterprise Centre on the 1st of November 

for a guided tour of the area as there is an expansion project being looked at and to make people aware of it. 

 

Ms. MacSweeney advised on the LECP briefing session and explained how it had to be postponed as low numbers were committed to 

attending. The advisory committee meeting will also be rescheduled and everyone will be duly notified.  

 

 

 

Next SPC Meeting: Tuesday 29th January 2019 

 

 

Page 4



 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 29th January 2019  
 

Agenda Item 3: Your Dublin Your Voice - Retail Survey  
 

 

 

Juliet Passmore 

Economic Research Officer 

Economic Development & Enterprise  

 

Your Dublin Your Voice - Retail Survey December 2018 

Introduction 

The Economic Development Office conducted its 2nd “Your Dublin Your Voice” survey in December. 

Against a backdrop of uncertain times for retail, we decided to ask Dubliners for their opinion on 

shopping and socialising in the city and identified the run up to Christmas, when these matters are 

usually at the forefront of people’s minds, as a good time of year to ask the questions. The survey 

received a robust response rate of 23% and with an engaged panel which is evidenced by the 

responses to the free form/opinion type questions. There was a similar survey conducted with the 

panel in 2011 which allowed for some comparisons. 

The following were the key findings: 

1: The results were broadly very positive. 89% of the respondents either agreed or strongly 
agreed that Dublin has a vibrant city centre and only 5% disagreeing or strongly disagreeing. 
This is an improvement on the 81% seen in 2011. The overall impression of the city is 
positive and improving.  

2: Despite this the proportion of those who enjoy shopping in the city has slipped to 74% from 
85% previously. While there is no change to the proportion – 81% - who enjoy socialising in 
Dublin. 

3: Daytime safety is becoming a bit more of an issue with 72% feeling safe in the city during the 

day compared to 76% in 2011. It is of particular concern to those with children. Only about 

40% feel safe in the city at night but this has not changed in the last 7 years. 

4: Taking a closer look at shopping: 

Page 5



 70% believe that Dublin has a wide selection of unique shops and independent retailers, an 

improvement on the 62% measured in 2011. However, local shops have lost some ground 

with the proportion of those indicating that supporting local is important to them falling to 

68% from 76% previously. This is lower again, 61%, amongst 18-34 year olds.  

 The city centre is the most popular location for shopping for books and fashion while white 

goods are predominately purchased in the suburbs, most likely in the retail parks. 

Approximately a third of people appear happy to buy homogenous items like Books and 

Personal Electronics online but this falls to a quarter for Fashion. Only 17% of respondents 

purchased Household Durable Goods online. 

5: The positive experience of socialising in Dublin is driven by both its restaurants and pubs. 
Pubs are performing very well with 91% of people enjoying them, up from 83% in 2011. 
Similarly, 92% think that eating out in Dublin is good or excellent, up from 86% in 2011. A 
similar amount agree that Dublin has a good range of high quality restaurants, also a 
significant improvement. This sees 60% of people eating out in Dublin at least once a month 
and almost 50% going to the pub. These proportions are higher for the under 35s. Shopping 
frequency is lower particularly when it comes to white goods and electronics which people 
buy less often. Meanwhile a third of Dubliners shop for clothes on a monthly basis and a 
quarter buy books.   

6: By the far the most important factor in influencing people’s choice of where to shop is a 

range of good stores (77%) with good value (66%) also important. Only 4% indicate that 

technology is an influencing factor although this rises to 8% amongst 18-24 years-olds. That 

said 81% indicate that the pay by tapping while a further 35% use click and collect facilities, 

so it appears that shoppers are embracing technology. Both are most popular amongst 35-

49 year olds. The use of loyalty cards and vouchers is also widespread.  

7: Grafton Street continues to hold the most appeal of any area in Dublin with three quarters 

of those surveyed ranking it number 1. The George’s Street Vicinity also showed strongly in 

second place just ahead of Henry Street. However while George’s Street appealed to the 

younger age groups Henry Street’s appeal is skewed to the older age cohorts perhaps 

reflecting the development of George’s Street as a destination for social activity. 

Comparatively shopping centres fare poorly, appealing to around half the amount of people 

as the top three destinations.     

8: Approximately 30% of people are spending more on shopping and eating out while only 18% 

report that they are spending more in the pub. The majority of people do not anticipate 

spending any more, or importantly any less, in the next 12 months, a sign of confidence. In 

terms of value for money 30-35% think that eating out and shopping are good value. But the 

pub fares badly with only 12% seeing it as good value while 42% think it poor or very bad 

value.  

9: The bus is the most popular means of getting into the city for shopping accounting for over a 

third of trips. When all forms of public transport are combined this rises to over 50%. The car 

accounts for just under a quarter of journeys. Getting into and around the city has become 

more difficult since 2011. 73% of people currently find it easy to get into the City (rises to 

85% for the over 65s) down from 82% in 2011 while 67% find it easy to get around versus 

72% in 2011. 

Page 6



10: Only half of respondents think that Dublin City Council are doing a good job maintaining the 

City centre. Although, the relatively high proportion who are neutral (27%) suggests that this 

may be partially an awareness issue. 

11: Online penetration rates amongst our survey panel are quite low. Approximately 30% of 

people never buy Books, Fashion or Personal Electronics online and 62% never buy White 

Goods online. Only 10% of those surveyed indicated that they frequently bought groceries 

online (a high volume shopping sector) which compares with 15% for the EU and 30% for the 

UK1. However, over half of respondents frequently (up to 3 times a month) do research 

online before they buy in the physical store.      

Further Dissemination 

In addition to presenting the findings of the survey to this SPC, the EDO are preparing an article for 
the next edition of the Dublin Economic Monitor which is being launched on the 7th February. Retail 
Excellence Ireland have also expressed an interest in publishing the results. 

The findings will also be fed back to the senior management of Dublin City Council for their 
consideration. 

The public will be able to access the findings with an Executive Report currently being prepared for 
the Dublin City Council website and available on request.  

 

If you want your voice to be heard on issues affecting the city you can sign up to the Your Voice Your 

Dublin survey panel here http://bit.ly/ydyvreg 

 

                                                           
1
 Eurostat 

Page 7

http://bit.ly/ydyvreg




 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 29th January 2019  
 

Apprenticeship Summit Outcomes Report & Letter to 
the Minister for Education  

 

 

 

Juliet Passmore 

Economic Research Officer 

Economic Development & Enterprise  

 

Apprenticeship Summit: Outcomes Report and Letter to the Minister for Education and Skills 

Introduction 

As part of the City Summit Series, an initiative of the Economic Development and Enterprise 

Strategic Policy Committee (SPC), Dublin City Council hosted an Apprenticeship Summit in City Hall 

on Wednesday 21st November.  

Background 

Apprenticeships are a proven way of developing skilled employees through a mixture of classroom 

and on the job training. Traditionally they are linked to the craft industry but the development and 

expansion of the Apprenticeship System has not only upgraded existing apprenticeships but is in the 

process of expanding the offering to support new and emerging skills. 

Outcome 

The Apprenticeship Summit facilitated a sharing of ideas between the leading stakeholders in the 

apprenticeship arena on the current status and future direction of apprenticeships in Dublin. 13 

speakers from higher and further education bodies, business groups, academia, industry, employee 

bodies and SOLAS contributed and the Lord Mayor of Dublin opened proceedings. 

As a follow up to the Summit the Economic Development Office produced an Outcomes Report 

outlining the contributions and key points from each of the presenters and contributions from the 

floor. This report was disseminated to all who attended the Summit is attached. 

In addition it is proposed that a letter advocating the salient points from the Summit be submitted 

for the consideration of the Minister for Education and Skills. It is attached for approval by the 

Economic Development and Enterprise SPC.  

Page 9





 
 
 
 
 
Minister Joe McHugh T.D.,      29th January 2019 

Minister for Education and Skills, 
Department of Education and Skills, 
Marlborough Street, 
Dublin 1, 
D01 RC96. 
 
Dear Minister Joe McHugh, 
 
I am writing to you regarding the outcomes and recommendations from the Dublin City Apprenticeship 
Summit which Dublin City Council hosted in City Hall on Wednesday 21st November 2018. 
 
The Summit Series is an initiative of the Economic Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy 
Committee (SPC) of Dublin City Council aimed at highlighting and encouraging discussion around the 
relevant issues facing the City. 
 
The Apprenticeship Summit was informed by research carried out by the Economic Development Office, 
facilitated a sharing of ideas between the leading stakeholders in the Apprenticeship arena on the current 
status and possible future direction of apprenticeships. 13 speakers from higher and further education 
bodies, business groups, academia, industry, employee bodies and SOLAS contributed. 
  
As a follow up to the Summit, the Economic Development Office produced an Outcomes Report outlining 
the contributions and key points from each of the contributions. This report was disseminated to all who 
attended the Summit and is attached for your information. 
 
Following on from the Summit, the Economic Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee 
advocates the following issues which emerged as key areas to be addressed; - 
 

1) Arrangements need to be in place for apprentices who are made redundant prior to the 
completion of their apprenticeship to enable the certainty around the completion of their 
qualifications. 

2) Promotion of apprenticeships in schools to change the perception that apprenticeships are low 
skilled or low paid. Apprenticeship fairs in second level institutions, support of Ireland Skills Live 
Event and a web portal should be considered. 

3) Training of teachers in schools regarding the benefits of the Apprenticeship System. In the first 
instance for career guidance teachers but ultimately for all teachers. 

4) Support for SMEs who employ apprentices, particularly in the initial years, needs to be addressed. 
This could be in the form of flexible apprenticeship sharing arrangements as well as financial 
support or tax credits. 

5) Examine how the formal education portion of the training is delivered to better suit both the 
apprentices and their employers. 

6) Examine the minimum educational requirements which may be proving a barrier in some cases. 
7) Examine the financial costs and related supports to the apprentices including training fees, 

insurance etc. 
8) Encourage government, both local and national, to expand the breath of apprenticeships on offer 

and embrace and develop new types. 

Page 11



9) Address the reasons why certain sectors of society are under-represented. These include those 
with disabilities, long term unemployed or disengaged from the labour market, immigrants and 
women. 

10) Provide comprehensive data on the outcomes for apprentices to inform stakeholders and direct 
targeted policy. 

  
I look forward to hearing your responses to the issues outlined above and would be happy to provide any 
further information you may seek to help in this regard. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Cllr. Deirdre Heney 
Chair, Economic Development & Enterprise Stratigic Policy Committee  
Dublin City Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Dublin City Apprenticeship Summit
Council Chambers, City Hall 

Wednesday 21st November, 2018

Page 13



 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

Outcomes Report 

Dublin City Summit Series 

Apprenticeship Summit 
 
 

 
 
(From L-R), Natasha Kinsella, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, Dublin City Councillor, Deirdre Heney, Greg Swift, 
Dublin City Council, Mary MacSweeney, Dublin City Council, Richard Shakespeare, Dublin City Council & Dr. 
Mary-Liz Trant, SOLAS, Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring 
 
 
 
 
Chaired by Councillor Deirdre Heney of the Economic Development and Enterprise, 

Strategic Policy Committee & hosted by the Economic Development Office of Dublin 
City Council 

 
 
 
 

Council Chambers 
Dublin City Hall 

21st November 2018 
 

Page 15



 3 

 
 
 
 

 

Contents 
 
 
I.    Key Outcomes ...................................................................................................... 5 

 
II.     Introduction ......................................................................................................... 9 

 
III.    Opening Address ............................................................................................... 10 

 
IV.    Section 1: Setting the Scene .............................................................................. 12 

 
V.     Section 2: Outlook for Skills Gaps and Training .............................................. 16 

 
VI.    Section 3: View from Industry .......................................................................... 22 

 
VII.   Section 4: Apprenticeships for the Future ........................................................ 36 

 
VIII. Appendix A: Key Facts & Figures.................................................................... 48 

 
IX. Appendix B: Contributors ................................................................................. 59 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5

9

10

12

16

23

36

49

59

Page 16



 4 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 17



 5 

 

 

 

I. Key Outcomes  
 

 
 
(From L-R), Natasha Kinsella, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, Dublin City Councillor, Deirdre Heney, Greg Swift, 
Dublin City Council, Mary MacSweeney, Dublin City Council, Richard Shakespeare, Dublin City Council & Dr. 
Mary-Liz Trant, SOLAS. 

 
Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise and Economic Development at Dublin City Council, 
summarised the Summit contributions, starting with the Lord Mayor, Mr Ring, who 
spoke about “grasping the opportunity to match apprenticeships with growing 
industries”, the SOLAS aims and 2020 targets, and new initiatives such as the 
“Pathways to Participation in Apprenticeship” document, “Generation Apprentice” 
and “Access to Apprenticeship”.   
 

Page 18



 6 

He made reference to the 70 types of 
apprenticeship that would be on offer by 2020, 
representing three times the current level, as 
well as apprenticeship from Levels 5 to 10 on the 
Framework of Qualifications. “We’re hearing 
that apprenticeship is a new way forward and we 
need a shift of emphasis.”  
 
He outlined the many new fields of apprenticeship, in addition to those associated 
with a craft, including logistics, technology, business, finance, food, medical and 
the different sectors that apprenticeship could meet as it evolves. In this regard, 
he reiterated the need to look at incentives for employers in particular but also 
apprentices. He said that the National Training Fund was raised as a topic that 
needed to be addressed. He referenced the “great” examples of new 
apprenticeships that had been highlighted at the Summit, namely in finance with 
the National College of Ireland, logistics with Freight Transport Association Ireland 
and the traditional crafts at Dublin City Council, saying that they showed what an 
apprenticeship is, what it means and how it works.  
 
He brought up the “big need” for promotion, touching on contributor comments 
such as “you earn while you learn; it’s only a method of learning; learning on the 
job; and getting career guidance involved”. He mentioned the Ireland Skills Live 
event in the RDS on 21st to 23rd March (2019) as something that people should go 
to in order to find out more about how apprenticeship works. The other thing, he 
noted, was the need for information and getting the employer involved and the 
new apprentices to come forward, saying that the data are there to get the 
message across.  
 
When it comes to choice, he spoke about people coming through third level 
courses and apprenticeships possibly not being promoted as part of that choice. 
He cited the 2% participation rate of females as “incredibly low” and an obvious 
area for addressing along with people with disabilities as a largely untapped 
resource.  

 
He said that the subject of recession versus full employment was broached 
numerous times, notably the experience of companies during the former when 
they had to halt apprenticeships. “There’s a process that needs to be addressed 
to make sure that continuation can happen if apprentices are laid off.”  

 
He also emphasised the need to achieve the balance between the process (exam) 
and the practicality of learning on-the-job. He highlighted the need for a single 
portal to match employers and apprentices. Mr Swift reiterated the high mismatch 

“We’re hearing that 
apprenticeship is a 

new way forward and 
we need a shift of 

emphasis.” 

Page 19



 7 

of skills in the over- and underskilled categories, saying that Ireland is at the wrong 
end of both and identifying apprenticeship as an area that could address that.  
 
He spoke about the need for more employers and more apprenticeships and the 
many sectors that could possibly be perceived as unattractive but have good jobs 
available, and that how this is promoted is key.   

 
Regarding the future, he said that it was positive to hear that the HEA, SOLAS and 
ETBs were working closely together in partnership. “We need to look at the design 
of the apprenticeship format, the different pathways to employment to highlight 
that this is a new and unique way to become employed.” 
 
The Key Outcomes emerging from the Summit Include: 
 

• As the country approaches full employment, skills shortages are becoming 
more of an issue 

• The development and expansion of existing apprenticeship programmes 
to include a variety of new fields could address some of the potential skills 
gaps 

• Apprenticeships could have benefits for a variety of people including 
school leavers, lifelong learners, career changers and those whose jobs are 
being affected by automation 

• Apprenticeships can also offer progression opportunities in terms of 
upskilling which benefit both employees and employers 

• Collaboration between training bodies, education and employers has 
already achieved much but a ramp up in employer buy-in and support is 
essential 

• Associated costs for employers – particularly SMEs - both in time and 
money are an issue 

• Employment incentives for apprenticeship programmes using the National 
Training Fund or tax credits could be examined 

• Emerging learning technologies have the potential to make formal 
learning more flexible 

• Apprenticeships as a mainstream choice need to be promoted to 
upcoming generations 

• A dedicated portal for disseminating information and posting 
opportunities would help potential employees make informed choices 

• Data on qualification rates of existing apprenticeships would provide 
information 

• Education of career guidance teachers on apprenticeships could help with 
their promotion in schools 

• The Ireland Live Event on 21st-23nd March 2019 showcasing 
apprenticeships should be promoted 

Page 20



 8 

• Additional supports and resources should be aimed at facilitating 
marginalised and underrepresented groups to become apprentices which 
could realise significant untapped potential 

 
From the Economic Office viewpoint, he confirmed that the Local Economic and 
Community Plan (LECP) is inviting all Summit participants to put forward ideas 
and suggestions to be included in the next phase of the economic plan, with 
consultations scheduled for 2019.  
 
In addition to the DCC research report, Mr Swift hoped the Summit Outcomes 
Report would “bring the subject forward and make some of these things happen”. 
He thanked the Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring; the Chair, Councillor Deirdre 
Heney; City Hall (for the venue); and particularly Natasha Kinsella (Dublin Regional 
Skills Forum) and Dr Mary-Liz Trant (SOLAS); whose support he wished to 
highlight. He concluded by conveying his gratitude to all of the speakers and to 
his own office, including Mary MacSweeney, Steven O’Gara, and Juliet Passmore, 
who wrote the Summit research paper, along with her team. 
  

In addition to the DCC research report, Mr Swift hoped the Summit Outcomes 
Report would “bring the subject forward and make some of these things happen”. 
He thanked the Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring; the Chair, Councillor Deirdre 
Heney and City Hall (for the venue). He particularly wanted to acknowledge the 
collaboration of Natasha Kinsella (Dublin Regional Skills Forum) for her assistance 
in facilitating the Summit and Dr May-Liz Trant (SOLAS) for her support. He 
concluded by conveying his gratitude to all of the speakers and to his own office, 
including Mary MacSweeney, Steven O’Gara and Juliet Passmore, who wrote the 
Summit research paper, along with her team. Thanks also to Lesley Kilmurray for 
her support in preparing this report.

Page 21



 9 

II. Introduction  
 

 
 
(From L-R), Steven O’Gara, Dublin City Council, Councillor Deirdre Heney, Richard Shakespeare, Dublin City 
Council 

 
Chair Councillor Deirdre Heney, Fianna Fáil, opened the Dublin City 
Apprenticeship Summit by introducing it as the third in a series of summits 
organised by the Local Enterprise Office. She attributed her particular interest in 
apprenticeships, particularly in the construction industry, to her remit as a local 
politician hearing from parents of young people working in this sector during the 
recession.  
 
Learning that many of those who didn’t 
complete their apprenticeships (because 
they were either halfway through or in their 
third year when their apprenticeships were 
terminated) suddenly emigrated to 
Australia, New Zealand and elsewhere without qualifications, she described how 
“They essentially fell off the edge of a cliff – a situation that really did and does 
affect Irish people”. Comparing this to young people who attended Trinity 
College, UCD or other third level facilities that were not forced to close during the 
downturn and did not therefore have to leave their courses prematurely, she 
emphasised the need for a mechanism to ensure that young Irish people 
undertaking apprenticeships would never be put in a similar scenario again.  

“Everyone needs an equal 
opportunity to choose 

whatever career they wish.” 
 

 9 

II. Introduction  
 

 
 
(From L-R), Steven O’Gara, Dublin City Council, Councillor Deirdre Heney, Richard Shakespeare, Dublin City 
Council 

 
Chair Councillor Deirdre Heney, Fianna Fáil, opened the Dublin City 
Apprenticeship Summit by introducing it as the third in a series of summits 
organised by the Local Enterprise Office. She attributed her particular interest in 
apprenticeships, particularly in the construction industry, to her remit as a local 
politician hearing from parents of young people working in this sector during the 
recession.  
 
Learning that many of those who didn’t 
complete their apprenticeships (because 
they were either halfway through or in their 
third year when their apprenticeships were 
terminated) suddenly emigrated to 
Australia, New Zealand and elsewhere without qualifications, she described how 
“They essentially fell off the edge of a cliff – a situation that really did and does 
affect Irish people”. Comparing this to young people who attended Trinity 
College, UCD or other third level facilities that were not forced to close during the 
downturn and did not therefore have to leave their courses prematurely, she 
emphasised the need for a mechanism to ensure that young Irish people 
undertaking apprenticeships would never be put in a similar scenario again.  

“Everyone needs an equal 
opportunity to choose 

whatever career they wish.” 
 

 10 

 
“Everyone needs an equal opportunity to choose whatever career they wish and 
they shouldn’t be let down by the people of the Irish State.”  

III. Opening Address 
 

 
 
(From L-R), Greg Swift, Dublin City Council, Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, Dr Mary-Liz Trant, SOLAS 

 
Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, began his contribution by noting that 
apprenticeships were traditionally associated with males and construction, but 
that it was all “changing dramatically”.  Having worked in the financial services 
sector himself, he expressed a particular interest in the “stunning success” of the 
financial service apprenticeships. Referring to the need to bring about a mindset 
change, he spoke about the huge work by SOLAS in promoting other types of 
apprenticeships in new areas such as ICT, auctioneering and the sciences in 
conjunction with reinforcing the more traditional types. He highlighted that Dublin 
City Council took in large numbers of apprentices this year in the plumbing, 
electrical, carpentry and other trades.  
 

He believes that Government policy is 
looking at apprenticeships in a more open 
and transparent way in terms of attracting 
females. While there is no bias towards 
third-level education in his north inner city 

“Both the traditional and 
new apprenticeships offer a 

fabulous career.” 

Page 22



 10 

 
“Everyone needs an equal opportunity to choose whatever career they wish and 
they shouldn’t be let down by the people of the Irish State.”  

III. Opening Address 
 

 
 
(From L-R), Greg Swift, Dublin City Council, Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, Dr Mary-Liz Trant, SOLAS 

 
Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, began his contribution by noting that 
apprenticeships were traditionally associated with males and construction, but 
that it was all “changing dramatically”.  Having worked in the financial services 
sector himself, he expressed a particular interest in the “stunning success” of the 
financial service apprenticeships. Referring to the need to bring about a mindset 
change, he spoke about the huge work by SOLAS in promoting other types of 
apprenticeships in new areas such as ICT, auctioneering and the sciences in 
conjunction with reinforcing the more traditional types. He highlighted that Dublin 
City Council took in large numbers of apprentices this year in the plumbing, 
electrical, carpentry and other trades.  
 

He believes that Government policy is 
looking at apprenticeships in a more open 
and transparent way in terms of attracting 
females. While there is no bias towards 
third-level education in his north inner city 

“Both the traditional and 
new apprenticeships offer a 

fabulous career.” 

Page 23



 11 

constituency, Mr Ring said that in Dublin generally, young people overwhelmingly 
think about going to college. He used the example of his own family, “None of 
my four sons considered an apprenticeship, which was sad in a way, but they all 
thought about going on to college. Yet both the traditional and new 
apprenticeships offer a fabulous career.” He spoke about the recent Lord Mayor 
Show in London, where it was interesting to see all of the old liveries and crafts 
with such a “great history” attached to them. 
 
With his 11-year IDA board background, he called attention to the “dramatic” 
biopharma industry, with nine of the top 10 pharmaceutical companies gradually 
locating on Ireland’s east coast. “I don’t think we took the opportunity to match 
up the apprenticeships as companies were locating here over the last decade but 
I think that is what’s happening now and what people like yourselves are 
facilitating.”  
 
He emphasised that SOLAS and government policy are promoting and leading 
on apprenticeships and that Dublin City Council is playing its role in this. In 
officially launching the summit, he wished the participants a constructive morning 
and expressed his gratitude to the Chair and Dublin City Council for organising 
the event.  
  

Page 24



 12 

IV. Section 1: Setting the Scene 
 

 
 
Dr Mary-Liz Trant, SOLAS 

 
Dr Mary-Liz Trant, Executive Director of Skills Development at SOLAS, was 
speaking primarily on behalf of the Apprenticeship Council of which SOLAS is the 
secretariat and a member. “In the last three to four years, the Apprenticeship 
Council has been overseeing what is a pretty ambitious and quite radical project 
of expanding apprenticeships in Ireland. With four years under our belt, what 
we’re doing at the moment is stepping back and reflecting on what’s happening 
and how we’re doing.”  
 

She highlighted that there are several 
hard, tangible targets set out as part of 
the vision until 2020, fast-forwarding 
to ask what Ireland as a country was 
trying to achieve when considering the 
role of apprenticeships as a route to 

skills development in a way that has never existed. She described the planned 
threefold increase in the number of available programmes, resulting in 70 
apprenticeships on offer compared to 25 three years ago.  
 
While acknowledging that this was nothing like Germany or Austria, where 
apprenticeships are used to develop talent, she said that this was very significant 

“What we’re doing at the 
moment is stepping back and 
reflecting on what’s happening 

and how we’re doing.” 

Page 25



 13 

for Ireland. She explained that apprenticeships will be available in lots of vibrant 
and growing industry areas such as logistics, recruitment, biopharma, technology 
and finance, and that craft areas, such as construction and business that are the 
backbone of what exists in this country, would be built on. While mentioning only 
a few areas, she reiterated that there would be apprenticeship offerings and 
options for people to “earn and learn” and build careers through getting a job 
and being taken on by employers in these areas. 
 
She confirmed that there would also be apprenticeships ranging from Level 5 up 
to Level 10 (PhD) on the Framework of Qualifications, offering this mode of on-
the-job learning for school-leavers developing intermediate skills through to 
those striving for advanced skills. She referred to the work in development by the 
University of Limerick on the Level 10 Principal Engineer, approved by the 
Apprenticeship Council, as the first available industrial PhD in Ireland.  
 
She outlined the challenge as the shift occurs in Ireland by 2020, where school-
leavers, career-changers, women, men and people with disabilities will be looking 
at their options and thinking about apprenticeships as a way of starting, building 
or changing their careers. She envisages that employers will also be seeing and 
using apprenticeships as a major talent pipeline within their companies.  
 
“As recently as four or five years ago, we had about 3,000 employers 
using apprenticeships, that’s now about 5,500 and by 2020, we want 
to get to at least 7,000 employers using them. We’re pointing out the 
range of ways we get our talent, with apprenticeship constituting a 
major one of those.”  
    
She raised the cultural and social part that “we must grapple with and move the 
dial on in Ireland” as the understanding and new narrative to elicit who 
apprenticeships are for, what the opportunity is, and the range of ways people 
can get qualifications with the apprenticeship route, be it a Level 6, honours 
degree or Masters level. She emphasised that it was open to everyone – people 
of all backgrounds, ages and abilities. As evident in the media, she said, the 
narrative is that apprenticeship in Ireland is very much associated with craft, with 
a strong track record that continues to be important, but the key is to build on 
this and expand it into a range of areas that are part of 21st century Ireland.  
 
Reverting to the present and the review by the Apprenticeship Council and 
employer and education and training partners, she said that there would be 42 
programmes on offer by the end of this year, up from 25 three years ago, 
including a number at ordinary and honours degree level and others in new 
industries such as logistics, finance, recruitment, and technology. She indicated 

Page 26



 14 

that the civil service and local authorities would shortly be taking on tech 
apprentices, asking them and other groups to start looking at apprenticeship as 
a way of getting their business and finance people, for example, and embracing 
this as a route for skills development across all employment sectors in Ireland. She 
referred to the 5,500 active employers, up from 3,000 three to four years ago, with 
over 500 taking on apprentices in the new programmes, many of whom had never 
used apprenticeship as a talent pipeline before.  
 
Referring to the discussion during the week about the target number of new 
apprentices not being hit, the feedback shared by Dr Trant was that it was taking 
some time because certain companies needed to change their recruitment 
practices and systems “by not necessarily looking for their 2.1 graduate any more 
but taking in people at intermediate level and looking at apprenticeship as 
advanced level development”. She explained that this mindset shift “takes a bit of 
time”. Citing the first 500 early movers taking on apprentices on new programmes, 
she expects this to double, then triple, in the next one to two years. “Those 
employers that are on board are huge ambassadors as the feedback is so positive 
from the experience they’re having and as that word gets out, that will be really 
strong.”  
 
While affirming SOLAS’ statutory responsibility for apprenticeship, Dr Trant 
explained that the model is partnership-based due to close collaboration with the 
HEA, employer representatives, and the QQI (which has a role in validation and 
quality assurance), making it a very robust system in Ireland. From the education 
and training side, she said that there are system changes, efficiencies and 
innovation needed and noted that facilitating a smooth process for employers to 
engage with an apprenticeship, get approval, take on apprentices and to be 
supported in that journey is a “work in progress”. It is something that SOLAS is 
very committed to and hopes to achieve by working in partnership with all of the 
education and training bodies and employers.  
 
“At the moment, the Council is meeting the 
employers and consortia working on the new 
apprenticeships to get feedback. Those sessions 
have been interesting as there’s a really open and 
frank conversation about how things are going, 
what people see as the targets for 2020 and what 
additional supports they need. Overall, it’s very positive but the big challenge 
we’re hearing is the ramp-up of employer buy-in and support, to ensure that as 
we grow, apprenticeships are being industry-led and that employers are coming 
on board in their numbers and seeing apprenticeships as a viable, valid and 
important way of getting their skills.”  
 

“The big challenge 
we’re hearing is the 

ramp-up of employer 
buy-in and support.” 

Page 27



 15 

She thanked Dublin City Council, the summit organisers, and praised the 
commitment and support by so many of the stakeholders present in getting the 
project up and running and believing in apprenticeships as a “fantastic talent 
pipeline”.  
 
Dr Trant picked up on Councillor Heney’s initial comments reflecting on what 
happened during the crash, and outlined how SOLAS put a large project in place 
to help the hundreds and even thousands of apprentices who were made 
redundant although many people were indeed “lost”. Furthermore, she said that 
presently when an apprenticeship is being validated, there has to be clear 
arrangements in place so that if an apprentice is made redundant they can 
complete their qualification regardless.  
 
She spoke about this as something that has been learnt and will most likely be 
put to the test at some point, even though the economy is now doing well. She 
sees it as an important part of making the model work and be sustainable, 
whereby if something happens within a work-based learning route there must be 
the ability to ensure that apprentices are looked after and receive their 
qualifications and learning.  
 
She pointed to the feedback from the consortia that there are a lot of career-
changers who would have been in industries for years without getting a formal 
qualification, but now, they have an opportunity as their employers are facilitating 
them in getting an apprenticeship contract, completing their apprenticeship and 
potentially moving to a new, more senior position within their companies. “We’re 
starting to see apprenticeship shaping up as an option for so many groups of 
people, not just young people and men. Also, we’ve just finished a review of 
Pathways to Apprenticeship, looking at the profile of who apprentices are, and 
we’re setting targets and putting steps in place to really drive that.”   
     
 
 
  

Page 28



 16 

V. Section 2: Outlook for Skills Gaps and Training 
 

 
 
(From L-R), Natasha Kinsella, Dublin Regional Skills Forum, Tony Donohoe, Ibec, Dr Paul Redmond, ESRI, Dr 
Vivienne Patterson, HEA, Aidan Flynn, FTAI 

 
Dr Paul Redmond, ESRI Research Officer, addressed the skills mismatch in the 
labour market related to apprenticeships and the construction sector in particular. 
He began by defining genuine skills shortages as opposed to other types of 
recruitment difficulties as “the lack of suitably qualified people to fill roles that are 
available provided the firms are offering the appropriate pay, conditions and 
contracts.”  
 
He cited several interesting reports from 2018 including one by Ciaran McQuinn 
of the ESRI published that day about the potential sources of future labour supply 
in the construction industry. As the country approaches full employment, the 
challenge perceived was who would fill these new roles as they become available. 
While underlining the importance of immigration, Dr Redmond’s colleague raises 
the point, “If we’re relying to some degree on immigration to fill roles in order to 
avoid these skills shortages, the current high cost of accommodation, especially 
in some parts of Dublin, may act as a disincentive to this.”  
 
As often found in literature, he continued “When you’re trying to tackle any sort 
of mismatch, including skills shortages, barriers to residential mobility is an issue 
–  

Page 29



 17 

 
“If it’s too costly to move within and even between countries, this can 
lead to persistent skills mismatches and shortages.” 
 
Related to this, citing the Construction Industry Federation report commissioned 
earlier this year to survey employers, Dr Redmond explained that, unsurprisingly, 
the statistics revealed that a large amount of residual uncertainty in the industry 
is deterring the employment of apprentices for up to four years. This is not due, 
he stressed, to a genuine skills shortage or a lack of qualified people but is related 
to the fear of uncertainty for the future and a reluctance to employ apprentices.  
 
While admitting that the data were old and had relatively small sample sizes in 
specific sectors, the 2015 ESRI employee survey reported that it was not only 
employers who were uncertain. Employee views within construction and trades in 
response to the question “do you think it’s likely you’ll lose your job within the 
next year?” recorded the perceived likelihood of job loss to be the third highest 
in the EU after Spain and Greece, revealing that there is fear among employees 
too. One of the relevant recommendations read by Dr Redmond, based on the 
earlier report and alluded to previously, was that it might be important to have a 
way to promote apprenticeships as a viable option to young people while 
recognising the challenge given the continuing uncertainty among employers.  
 
Speaking about other types of skills mismatches that can occur in the labour 
market, these are primarily related to individuals in employment with excess skills 
or skills underutilization (not fully used in their employment) or those who lack 
the required skills to do a good job (underskilling). He indicated that Ireland 
ranked poorly in both measures, as the fourth highest country in terms of 
overskilling and with the seventh highest rate in underskilling in Europe.  
 
Addressing the causes of these in research, receiving attention recently, “It 
appears that educational career choices and jobs that are more vocational in 
nature, dealing with specific skills, tend to be associated with lower levels of 
mismatch. That’s a good thing because when we talk about these types of 
mismatches they come at a cost. If you’re in a job and you feel you’re mismatched, 
there’s a cost – often profound – in terms of your job satisfaction and you can 
have wage penalties for the employer so there’s lost productivity. In general, it 
can be seen as a waste of talent.”  
 
On drilling down into the data of mismatches among construction and 
tradespeople in Ireland, bearing in mind that underskilling is quite high generally, 
the level of employees who report that they don’t have the requisite skillset is very 
low and well below the European average, with only 3% not possessing enough 
skills to do the job. While cautioning this as a cursory look at broad statistics and 

Page 30



 18 

the need to be careful about the conclusions being drawn, he remarked that, at a 
glance, it was a positive outcome in that the people within the construction and 
trade industries feel “pretty well equipped to do their jobs”. 
 
------------- 
 
 
 
Tony Donohoe, Head of Education and Social Policy at IBEC and Chair of the Irish 
Government’s Expert Group on Future Skills Needs, reflected on how 
apprenticeships are getting both political and media attention and that they are 
a pathway for employers to recruit and develop staff with relevant skills to address 
some of the issues covered by Dr Redmond vis-à-vis skills mismatch. He 
commented on how employers have an influence on the curriculum and on-the-
job learning, while apprenticeships serve as a route to sustainable and rewarding 
careers for employees.  
 
He recounted how this has been talked about for quite some time, recalling the 
Apprenticeship Review Group set up by the then Minister for Education, Ruairi 
Quinn, over five years ago after the collapse in construction. He said that it was, 
in some ways, an acknowledgement that this was a model that needed to be 
broadened into other sectors of the economy, and that it should be enterprise-
led. Admitting that some stakeholders have possibly been a bit impatient with the 
speed of the roll-out of the new apprenticeship model, he believes that in 
retrospect, the challenge should not have been underestimated as it represents a 
major cultural and economic shift in the way business is done.  
 
Mr Donohoe referred to the “lazy commentary” regarding the German, Austrian 
and Swiss models and stated that anybody working in the area of education policy 
knows that you cannot simply transpose a model from one country to another. In 
some of those countries, the apprenticeship system was developed over centuries 
and not just decades.   
 

In the context of the long-established culture 
within construction, he highlighted the 
challenge of expanding this into other areas as 
well as the cultural challenges around learners. 
“At one level, it’s very good that as a society 
we put a high value on education but we do 
tend to define education attainment in terms 

of CAO points and direct entry into higher education. I think there’s a growing 
acknowledgement of that and a lot of good work being done around campaigns 

“A lot of good work 
being done around 
campaigns such as 

‘Generation 
Apprenticeship.” 

Page 31



 19 

such as ‘Generation Apprenticeship’ and even these type of events to start 
showing that there are different opportunities.”  
 
Mr Donohoe wished to focus on the challenge with employers as that was his 
constituency, speaking of a “window of opportunity” as Ireland approaches full 
employment and saying that now was the time to focus employers’ attention on 
the skills and labour market shortages evident in most areas of the economy.  
 
He explained that it was a particular challenge as employers were not accustomed 
to recruiting and developing staff through apprenticeships and that many SMEs 
were time poor and limited in terms of resources for mentoring and developing 
apprentices. He said that this needed to be acknowledged and suggested helping 
with the cost of providing apprenticeships, especially around the current 
anomalies. “Employers paying off-the-job wages of apprentices doesn’t happen 
in the traditional craft apprenticeships but it does in the new apprenticeships – I 
suppose that continued in order to embed the new way of rolling out 
apprenticeships but I think the time has come to address that.”    
 
Mr Donohoe’s second point was around awareness, highlighting one of the more 
important recommendations of the “Pathways to Participation in Apprenticeship” 
document mentioned by Dr Trant as the establishment of a single portal where 
employers can go and post their apprenticeship opportunities. “It’s surprising that 
four or five years into this project we haven’t got a single portal to market 
opportunities. Maybe that should’ve been an early priority because people talk 
about having a CAO system for apprenticeships but it’s actually employers that 
offer apprenticeships and without their buy-in, you’re not going to have 
apprenticeships,” he concluded. 
 
------------- 
 
Natasha Kinsella, Department of Education and Manager of the Dublin Regional 
Skills Forum, expressed her delight in collaborating with Dublin City Council on 
the event given that the Forum’s work is about bridging the gap between 
employers and education. In the context of the landscape and skills challenges 
previously discussed, she reiterated the skills challenge versus the talent 
acquisition piece that the Forum is trying to address. She acknowledged the 
Forum Chair, Siobhan O’Shea, and a number of the providers and individuals 
present who are members of the Forum.    
 

Natasha Kinsella, Manager of the Dublin Regional Skills Forum (a Department 
of the Education & Skills initiative bringing employers and education and 
training providers together to collaboratively develop skills across the Dublin 
Region) expressed her delight in collaborating with Dublin City Council on the 
event given that the Forum’s work is about bridging the gap between employers 
and education. In the context of the landscape and skills challenges previously 
discussed, she reiterated the skills challenge versus the talent acquisition piece 
that the Forum is trying to address. She acknowledged the Forum Chair, Siobhan 
O’Shea, and a number of the providers and individuals present who are 
members of the Forum.

Page 32



 20 

In terms of why and where the Forum fits in the 
apprenticeship space, she highlighted that 
Dublin accounts for 30% of the country’s 
employment, outperforming the national 
average in most of the labour market 
indicators. “There’s still a considerable cohort 
of individuals that are completely disengaged from employment and/or 
educational training provision. On the other hand, there’s the serious challenge 
to attract and retain talent across a wide variety of sectors, certainly within 
construction in Dublin, but also health, wholesale, retail, accommodation, food, 
financial and services. In terms of addressing the landscape between replacement 
and expansion, there is ICT and construction. So overall, the total recruitment 
challenge is in various sectors.” 
 
She called attention to the fact that there has been a lot of work done, by the 
Forum and others, to bridge the gap between education and provision, and to try 
to support the provision through apprenticeships to enable the talent pipeline to 
be attracted. It was where apprenticeships featured strongly, she said, by way of 
allowing individuals to work and learn while allowing employers to build the talent 
pipeline for the future, an important context to note.  
 
Speaking about the Forum’s focus, Ms Kinsella 
emphasized the engagement and 
communications pieces. Based on 
conversations, “The awareness about the 
apprenticeship offerings and potential 
pathways is still a particular struggle for 
employers as they’re not quite sure how to 
navigate around the system”. She referred to the “Pathways to Participation in 
Apprenticeship” report that identifies a field of opportunity, no longer talking 
about alternatives but about lots of different options to navigate through that 
system for both participants and employers.  
 
By way of deliverables, over the two and a half years of the Forum’s existence, she 
spoke of a number of developments and collaborations between industry 
consortia to drive the development of apprenticeship and traineeships. According 
to Ms Kinsella, some of the examples previously mentioned are indicative of the 
collaborative piece between the educational providers. “In Dublin alone, most of 
the provision now is progressed quite considerably, with offerings in financial 
services, tourism, hospitality, ICT, construction, logistics and transport, sales and 
retail, and the biopharma and medtech sectors.” Amidst the continuing challenge, 
she sees the advancement of the dialogue and support for employers as offering 

“The awareness about 
the apprenticeship 

offerings and potential 
pathways is still a 

particular struggle for 
employers ” 

“There’s the serious 
challenge to attract and 

retain talent across a 
wide variety of sectors.” 

“The awareness about 
the apprenticeship 

offerings and potential 
pathways is still a 

particular struggle for 
employers.”

Page 33



 21 

the solution for the different pathways, namely apprenticeship and traineeships, 
to ensure the talent pipeline for the future.   
 
------------- 
 
On conclusion of this section addressing the outlook for skills gaps and training, 
the floor was opened to questions.  
 
Ms Marion Wilkinson, Senior Policy and Public Affairs Advisor of the National 
Disability Authority and board member of the Dublin Regional Skills Forum wished 
to reinforce the work of Ms Kinsella on collaboration, acknowledging that it was 
not a “perfect space” and that more work needed to happen. She said that she 
would like Dublin City Council and its partners to consider the untapped workforce 
of people with disabilities. She suggested that additional supports would make it 
possible for this group to access and stay at work.  
 
------------- 
 
Councillor Heney picked up on Mr Donohoe’s commentary in relation to 
supporting SMEs, describing an event held at the Mansion House the previous 
week, where a conversation about the bravery of entrepreneurship developed. 
She stressed the “get up and go attitude” of people who set up small businesses, 
representing the backbone of society, and touched on her own background of 
both small business and apprenticeship through her mother and late father’s 
respective roles as a small shopkeeper and apprentice sheet metal worker, calling 
him ”a really fine tradesman”, while her many siblings all set up businesses in their 
own right.  
 
“We need to support bravery like those individuals show and need a situation 
where employers know where to go. We need to ensure that anyone who chooses 
the option of an apprenticeship that doesn’t involve going to mainstream college 
courses are encouraged and given every single opportunity, because we need 
apprentices and all the services that are provided as a result of employers being 
brave and young people taking options that best suit their skills and talents.” 
 

Page 34



 22 

 
 
(From L-R) Councillor Deirdre Heney, Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, Councillor Paul McAuliffe 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VI. Section 3: View from Industry  
 

Page 35



 23 

 
 
(From L-R) Dr Peter Rigney, ICTU, Brendan McCabe, Dublin City Council, Mary Tyrrell, Dublin City Council, 
Dermot Carey, CIF, David Tracey, John Sisk & Son, Ciaran King, King & Moffatt 

 
David Tracey, Training Centre Manager for John Sisk & Son, thanked the event 
hosts for the opportunity to contribute on the topic of apprenticeships, specifically 
in the construction industry. He introduced himself as a former carpenter joiner 
apprentice of 35 years who took over the Sisk Joinery and Training Centre at a 
very young age. He explained that he had first-hand experience of taking in young 
people, mapping their progress through apprenticeships and seeing them 
become the next generation of site managers. He emphasized how the success 
of a company, big or small, is undoubtedly built on its people and that 
apprenticeships definitely play a significant role in this.  
 
Mr Tracey emphasised how mapping progress 
during apprenticeships and how these young 
people become next generation foremen is so 
important. “We’re glad to say that we started 10 
new apprentices in carpentry and joinery three 
weeks ago, of which one is a female, so we’re encouraging more women to come 
into our industry. Sally-Jean is working as well as any of the lads and the buzz in 
the workshop is amazing while the job satisfaction is incredible.” He said that 
witnessing the enthusiasm of these young people learning skills from the start is 
so inspiring and definitely very important to the company going forward. 
 
While he acknowledged certain negativity about apprenticeships and the training 
method, he stressed that the standard-based system, with on- and off-the-job 
training and the part played by SOLAS, the Educational Training Boards (ETBs) 
and Institutes of Technology (IOTs) are all critical because they produce highly 
skilled and qualified people in all trades at the end of four years. As a contractor, 
he is aware of the skills shortage, particularly in the wet trades, such as bricklaying, 
plastering and painting, referring to that morning’s report from the ESRI. Working 
with the CIF through manpower education and training, he said that they were 
working hard to promote apprenticeships.  

“We’re encouraging 
more women to come 

into our industry.” 

 22 

 
 
(From L-R) Councillor Deirdre Heney, Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial Ring, Councillor Paul McAuliffe 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VI. Section 3: View from Industry  
 

Page 36



 24 

 
Mr Tracey broached the need to connect with 
industry and employers and mentioned that his 
company was doing a lot of career events. 
“One problem is getting employers on board, 
a lot of whom are SMEs – we have to make 
changes to how these small employers can employ apprentices because it’s a big 
commitment taking apprentices on for four years due to redundancy and other 
issues, so we’re talking to SOLAS about ideas like apprentice sharing.”  
 
His message to employers was to recruit more, engage more with the ETBs and 
SOLAS, and advocate for employment incentives. He presented the Ireland Skills 
Live event1 scheduled for 21st to 23rd March 2019 at the RDS. Encouraging the 
summit participants to attend, he explained that this would be the first time ever 
that the national apprentices would compete at the one time under the one roof 
(they have been taking place since the 1950s in the IOTs throughout the country 
to poor audiences). With the CIF skills village, hero stage and ‘try a trade’ area, 
they will rally every school (students and teachers) in the country as well as career 
guidance counselors, parents and the “mammies of Ireland” to come to these live 
competitions for all skill areas. He finished his contribution by saying that ideally 
as many people as possible would attend what would hopefully become an annual 
event and praising the “Generation A” competition run by SOLAS that he feels 
should be supported by more employers.   
 
------------- 
 
Mary Tyrrell from the Performance and Development Unit in Human Resources at 
Dublin City Council (DCC), described her role as administering and supporting the 
Junior Apprenticeship Programme in DCC. By way of an overview, she outlined 
that provision was made for the progamme in the Council’s 2018 budget as 
managers had identified the need across the Housing and Community Services 
and Environment and Transportation Departments.  
 
She explained that the programme was designed collaboratively between HR, 
SOLAS and the local departments, and that the public advertisement in March 
2018 generated huge interest and volume of applicants. She described how the 
recruitment process involved a suitability assessment and interview, after which 18 
apprenticeships were offered – six brick and stonelayers, four carpenters, four 
plumbers and four electricians.  
 
Ms Tyrrell highlighted how the programme began on the 24th of September 2018 
with an induction process for the apprentices and would be phased, with a 
                                                 
1 Further information is available at: https://www.irelandskillslive.ie/home.html 

“We’re talking to SOLAS 
about ideas like 

apprentice sharing.” 

Page 37



 25 

minimum of four years (on a temporary fixed-term contract) to complete, 
combining on-the-job training and classroom-based learning. She mentioned 
that the apprentices are being monitored and assessed by their DCC Supervisor, 
ETB and college tutor. On successful completion, they will be qualified in their 
respective trades and eligible to apply for future positions at the Council (although 
there is no guarantee of permanent employment). 

 
Ms Tyrrell reiterated Mr Tracey’s positive 
experience, “The enthusiasm shown by the 
apprentices and the way they engaged 
with us as an organisation during the 
induction programme was wonderful. It’s 
great to see them coming into the 
organisation and it created a buzz across 

the depots where they’re working. We had a diverse group of successful 
applicants, which was very good. It’s been enjoyable and a pleasure to be 
administering the Junior Apprenticeship Programme.” 
 
------------- 
 

 
 
(From L-R) Brendan McCabe, Dublin City Council, Mary Tyrrell, Dublin City Council, Dermot Carey, CIF 

     
Brendan McCabe, Area Maintenance Officer in Dublin City Council within the 
Housing and Community Department, introduced himself as a carpenter-joiner 
with responsibility for providing an in-house maintenance service to the Council’s 
buildings and managing the apprenticeship scheme for his department. “I 

“It’s been enjoyable and a 
pleasure to be 

administering the Junior 
Apprenticeship 
Programme.” 

Page 38



 26 

introduced myself as a carpenter/joiner because that is what I am, what I identify 
myself as and ‘til my dying day I will always refer to myself as this. Titles will come 
and go but my trade will always be with me and be part of who I am.”  
 
As a strong advocate, Mr McCabe spoke about his first-hand experience of the 
benefits of apprenticeships and his reason for actively working to recruit and get 
involved with an apprenticeship scheme for the past six years. He referred to the 
18 new apprentices on the Junior Apprenticeship Programme as a “wish come 
true”. 
 
Having served his apprenticeship with DCC, Mr McCabe said that he was 
privileged to work with many great craftspeople from every walk of life over the 
past 32 years, some of whom had no academic qualifications and many of whom 
had left school early (after primary level). He believed that this did not in any way 
make them poor craftspeople and his biggest fear was losing the chance to recruit 
gifted people into the trades due to the amount of exams and third-level 
education required to complete an apprenticeship. “Think of a scenario where 
water is coming through your ceiling from a leak at midnight, would you call a 
plumber and ask what exams they had and if they were equivalent to a QQI award 
or would you just want a good plumber who could fix your problem quickly and 
not create any others?” 
 
He said that while he did not know any craftsperson who boasts about having 
passed all their exams or gaining a Level 6 or equivalent qualification, he knew 
hundreds who would gladly describe what they had made or done. “When you 
look at a craftsperson recalling a job or showing you previous work, you hear 
pride in their voice, you see happiness in their eyes and I can tell you that money 
can’t buy this sense of achievement.” 
 
In bringing up the smart economy, Mr McCabe observed that it is all very well 
having everybody educated to a level where we can tell anyone how to do a job, 
but that it is pointless unless there is someone who can physically do it.  
 
He posed the question of whether the drive to academically educate people to a 
higher level than before and demand higher, more recognised qualifications is 
preventing some capable and talented people from entering apprenticeships. He 
believes that this is where society is ruling out a vast cohort of people who do not 
like academic education, people who are not lacking intelligence. “However, 
because they don’t fit into our boxes of how education is supposed to work, are 
we leaving them behind?  
 

Page 39



 27 

“I feel that it’s very important that we stop and look closely at how the 
formal educational part of the apprenticeship scheme is currently 
being delivered.” 
 
He gave the example of someone who does not like school but loves practical 
work and asked if the thought of attending college for three to five months at a 
time along with all the study was off-putting? He proposed looking at a return to 
the one-day off-the-job training or a less intense form of delivery than presently 
used on the basis that this might be easier to sell to a prospective apprentice. He 
suggested another benefit that if they found something difficult or did not fully 
understand something, that this one day a week might give apprentices the 
chance to speak with their work mentors who could possibly explain theories in a 
more practical sense, allowing the apprentice to process the information. 
 
Mr McCabe adopted the small employer point of view, asking if they can afford 
to let one of their staff go off-the-job for three to five months when there is a 
project to complete? With one day a week, he submitted, if they needed to keep 
the apprentice to finish a job, they would only miss one or two days which they 
could catch up on easier than losing a week or two. He questioned if this block 
release is preventing small employers from taking on apprentices? 
 
He asked if employers want all craftspeople educated to a very high level or some 
of them to simply work, and if craftspeople all want to attend college, study and 
sit exams, become site managers, supervisors etc. or if some simply want to work? 
“Maybe we need to look at various levels of qualifications within each trade as a 
way of allowing those who just want to work to succeed, but also facilitating those 
who wish to further their careers.” 
 
Mr McCabe also believes that trades and apprenticeships should be left to 
tradespeople and industry to design and operate as they know what they want 
from their craftspeople. Tradespeople have the experience and knowledge to 
educate apprentices and show them why things are done the way they are, as has 
been done – and has worked – for millennia, he said. 
 
As part of its social obligation to citizens to provide opportunities that would not 
normally come their way, Mr McCabe highlighted that Dublin City Council is 
currently involved with an “Access to Apprenticeship” scheme in conjunction with 
DIT. The aim is to give young people who may not have formal educational 
qualifications and do not meet the minimum requirements to enter a craft, the 
chance to work as an apprentice for three months to see if this is a career path 
they wish to pursue. 
 

Page 40



 28 

He brought up an adult apprenticeship scheme run by the Council many years 
ago that gave some of the general operative staff the option to become 
apprentices and train as craftspeople. He explained that many of these people 
had little or minimal formal education but that their life and work experiences 
were immense. “They showed me a few tricks. When on-the-job training was 
happening, they excelled. However, when it came to the formal off-the-job 
training (particularly phases four and six) these people really struggled. I saw 
grown men cry with the stress of study and exams.” He stated that the Council 
and its staff, particularly at a local level, gave every support, with some giving 
personal time to help these people achieve their goal of becoming craftspeople.  
 
“When he had finished, one chap said he could never thank me, my colleagues or 
the organisation enough for all the help we’d given him. He told me that on the 
day he received his national craft certificate, his wife said that she was so proud 
of him and that she was happier than on her wedding day. She said that the 
confidence he gained, the delight in his eyes when he could do jobs for his 
children and the pride he showed of works he carried out on his home was 
something that could not be bought.”  
 
Mr McCabe recalled that this man, when asked, said that he would go through it 
again or recommend someone else to do it. However, he told Mr McCabe that he 
found all the study, lectures and exams extremely difficult and felt that he had no 
one in college to explain things to him in a language he understood or to 
demonstrate practically what things actually meant. This raised the question of 
whether we are now excluding these people from becoming good productive 
citizens with the opportunity to develop and to improve their standard of living. 
 
In deciding on the minimum education requirement for the recruitment drive for 
apprentices, Mr McCabe maintained that candidates with seven “A”s in the 
Leaving Certificate would be of little use while those demonstrating hand-eye 
coordination (being able to clap their hands) and a genuine passion and vocation 
for a trade would thrive. Mr McCabe said that he did not really care if the 
apprentices got distinctions or barely passed their exams as long as they had a 
passion for their trade and could do the work asked of them. While he would 
never check their results again once he knew they had passed, he would always 
be looking at the quality of their work as a testament to the onsite training that 
the Council, its craftspeople and himself as an individual have provided for them.  
 
“At the end of the day, the quality of work, an ability to problem solve 
and adapt are the most important things needed in a craftsperson, 
not their exam grades.” 
 

Page 41



 29 

He feels that those apprentices who are keen on academic education will attend 
extra courses to suit where they want to take their career paths, and that these 
are the people who will become foremen, site managers, clerks of works, 
inspectors, area maintenance officers, etc. “For others, making them happy is 
about the ability to produce something tangible on a daily basis, to look back at 
the end of the day and say “I did that”, to show work they have done to their 
family and friends that could still be there to be admired in hundreds of years, 
and to get paid for achieving that work satisfaction.” Mr McCabe suggested that 
perhaps now was the time to look at what society actually needs from its 
craftspeople and not what theorists believe craftspeople really need. 

 
He requested the group to think about the 
issues constantly arising with current 
buildings and to look at the “magnificent 
building” housing City Hall. He recounted 
how it has seen a rising and civil war, has 
so many stories and scars yet is still 
standing perfectly. He described how it was 

designed to be functional and aesthetically pleasing, and was built with quality 
materials that last lifetimes and not something with a 30-year guarantee. “City Hall 
was built and maintained by proper craftspeople, with no formal education or 
exams to their names, but with experience passed on by their predecessors rather 
than written down in some instruction manual. It’s still here and rest assured that 
it’ll see you and me out while many more generations will hopefully enjoy its 
splendour – can the same be said for our latest buildings?”  
 
Mr McCabe closed his remarks by stating that society needs to look at what is 
required from its craftspeople and where it intends to get these people from. “For 
me, it has to be from those groups all around us who want to learn from work 
rather than learn to work.” 
 
------------- 
 

“City Hall was built and 
maintained by proper 

craftspeople… It’s still here 
and rest assured that it’ll 

see you and me out.” 

Page 42



 30 

 
 
(From L-R) Paul Sweetman, Ibec, Carol Kenna, Ibec, David Tracey, SISK, Cllr Deirdre Heney, Dermot Carey, CIF, 
Natasha Kinsella, DRSF, Aidan Flynn, FTAI, Ciaran King, King & Moffatt 

 
Dermot Carey, Director of Safety and Training at the Construction Industry 
Federation (CIF), opened his remarks by putting the construction industry into 
context with reference to the ESRI Report relating to the demand for skills. He said 
that the industry was worth €20 billion and growing at about 7% per annum, 
resulting in an increase of 18,000 employees last year with no sign of this changing 
and thus there is a pent-up demand for skills.  
 
He also cited the 2016 DKM and SOLAS report that forecast a need for 112,000 
people over the next three to four years. He confirmed that the construction 
industry has always been a supporter and promoter of apprenticeships, with 
about 8,000 presently, and he welcomed the wealth of work being done to 
promote apprenticeship through the SOLAS’ “Generation Apprentice” initiative, 
to get young people to realise the available opportunities. He also lauded the 
recent “Pathways to Participation in Apprenticeship” document.  
 
In terms of the job marketplace, Mr Carey 
spoke about connecting with the career 
guidance teachers over the past four years, 
seeing them as a major opportunity to market 
a job in the construction industry. “Career 
guidance teachers have been telling us that we 
need to provide them with a central place that 
they can go to find jobs. We launched 

“Career guidance 
teachers have been 

telling us that we need 
to provide them with a 
central place that they 
can go to find jobs.” 

Page 43



 31 

apprentices.ie a number of years ago and have a vacancy section but we really 
welcome the upcoming inclusion of the marketplace on the apprenticeship.ie 
website from SOLAS.” 
 
He said the CIF welcomed the widening of the offering in relation to 
apprenticeship and making it more attractive and acceptable to people. Saying 
he heard Dr Trant on the radio the previous day describing apprenticeship merely 
as “a method of learning”, he believes that is what needs to be understood by 
people.  
 
He spoke about the huge opportunities he sees for traineeships given one of the 
issues in the construction sector is the pace at which people have to be trained, 
alluding to the slow pace of the new apprenticeships coming online. On the other 
hand, companies can respond quickly and give good qualifications to people with 
traineeships so that route should not be forgotten about.  
 
Speaking about areas of concern, Mr Carey reiterated some of those that Mr 
Donohoe mentioned, saying that when it came to choice, apprenticeships were 
seen as a “consolation prize” at the moment. He said that this needed to change 
and that a lot of good work was being done to this end. He identified career 
guidance teachers and the Institute of Career Guidance, technology teachers and 
SOLAS as good advocates committed to promoting apprenticeship. He reinforced 
Mr Donohoe and Mr Tracey’s point that the key difference between 
apprenticeships and any other type of training is the need for employers before 
you can have apprenticeships.  
 
He said that in the construction sector, 96% of companies employ fewer than 10 
people, and having withstood 10 years of a very difficult economic situation, 
survival is still in their mentality. This was indicated by Dr Redmond as part of the 
findings in the CIF report. He stressed the need to bring employers on board as 
well as the apprentices. As Mr McCabe had mentioned, he affirmed that 22 weeks 
off-the-job was too much for a small employer and needed to be facilitated.  

 
The other concern he raised, echoing Mr 
Donohoe’s, was that “Under the new 
apprenticeship regime, off-the-job training 
phases have to be paid for by the employer. I 
think this is a huge disincentive for small 
employers – it’s just not going to happen. 
Considering that the National Training Fund is 
oversubscribed by €480 million, we feel that’s a 
major mistake. That is employers’ – not State – 

“Under the new 
apprenticeship regime, 

off-the-job training 
phases have to be paid 
for by the employer. I 

think this is a huge 
disincentive for small 

employers.” 

Page 44



 32 

money so we believe there’s a fund there to address that.”  
 
He spoke about “some seriously bad decisions made in the last couple of years”, 
such as the introduction of student fees for apprentices in 2014, explaining that 
the cost eventually comes back to the employer, something highlighted in the 
CIF’s budget submission in the last number of years as a point to be addressed. 
He also referred to the current attempt by Revenue to tax off-the-job payments 
for apprentices, concluding that the Government needed to address all of these 
aforementioned matters in trying to attract employers and, by extension, 
apprentices.  
 
------------- 
 
Ciaran King, General Manager at King and Moffatt, began his contribution by 
thanking the event organisers for the invitation to speak and saying that he was 
from an accountancy and HR rather than an apprenticeship background. He 
recalled that King and Moffatt had stopped apprenticeship training between 2008 
and 2013 due to the economic downturn except for eight apprentices, something 
that needed addressing when he came into the company in 2013.   
         
He described how the company changed its recruitment approach by promoting 
apprenticeships through the local schools and main newspapers in the border 
counties around Roscommon, resulting in 70 applications and the hire of 10 
apprentices, including a Level 8 Quantity Surveyor and Mechanical Engineer who 
both qualified in the last year. This showed the calibre of people who were 
attracted into apprenticeship and these two individuals went on to become site 
managers and are now creating the culture within his company.  
 
He emphasized the big advantage for apprentices, “They can enter the company 
immediately, earn when on-the-job, get a feel for it in the first eight to twelve 
months depending on how quickly they get called to SOLAS, with very few 
dropping out at this stage, and when they go on to college they’re earning straight 
away.”  
 
In reiterating Mr Carey’s sentiment in relation 
to apprenticeship fees, Mr King pointed out 
that while larger employers were in a position 
to pay for their students to go back to college, 
smaller employers can’t afford it and so these huge costs can be put back on 
apprentices, which is very discouraging. “We regularly have people coming in 
about the €2,500 to €3,000 for insurance that people are having to pay to get to 
work so there are significant costs on young people.”  
 

“There are significant 
costs on young people.” 

Page 45



 33 

While acknowledging the boom-bust cycle in Ireland and the uncertainty among 
employers and employees as previously mentioned by Dr Redmond, he believes 
that the opportunity to travel is immense and should be promoted within the 
industry. He talked about “splitting away” the [negative] attitude and association 
that some parents and career guidance teachers have to property developers, the 
construction industry and apprentices themselves because apprenticeship is so 
transferable. He stressed that Irish apprentices are very well recognised across 
Europe and the world and are building data centres across the continent for 
Amazon, Microsoft and Google while also working with big food and 
semiconductor companies.  
 
“I think that those working in the career guidance area should be 
invited onto the Dublin Regional Skills Forum because they could learn 
a lot from sitting in the room with the ITs, SOLAS, ETBs, CIF, IBEC and 
the local councils and hearing what’s available from industry.”   
 
Mr King contributed to the discussion about changing the apprenticeships and 
shortening the programmes on- and off-the-job. With operations in Ireland, the 
UK, mainland Europe and North America, his company’s view is that the electrical 
and mechanical apprenticeships should be left as they are, claiming that the 
apprentices turned out by Ireland in these trades compete very well across the 
world and are “miles ahead” of those from the UK. He admitted that the block-
laying and painting areas, where Ireland is struggling to get people, possibly need 
to be looked at.  
 
Referring to Dr Trant’s contribution, he said that it was great to see the growth in 
apprenticeships from 25 to 45 this year and 70 in a few years’ time. He believes 
that there are huge advantages to the one- or two day a week off-the-job for 
certain roles within companies as they tend to be systematic, with a process 
around how people deliver service and output, so people can learn “small skills” 
off-the-job.   
 
He also picked up on the Ireland Skills Live event mentioned by Mr Tracey, 
confirming that his company was sponsoring the Building Information Modelling 
(BIM), with 3D design and construction and AutoCAD. He believes that there is 
scope for a one-day a week apprenticeship in this field as his company is looking 
to offer a service through people building on BIM in Ireland and New York and 
selling that through cloud services directly to clients in the US and even across the 
UK and Europe.  
 
Stressing the need to focus on the recruitment process and the attitude towards 
it, he highlighted the many jobs and positions available where “People are doing 

Page 46



 34 

three to four years of degrees with huge college fees and they’re possibly only 
using 10 to 15% of that when they actually come to work in the companies”.  
 
------------- 
 
Peter Rigney, Industrial Officer at ICTU, began by picking up on the “sell it to the 
mammies of Ireland” phrase, highlighting that this group were presently poring 
over CAO forms and identifying them as an “important sell”, whereby 
apprenticeships should play to their strengths.  

 
From the data available from SOLAS (given that 
each apprentice must be registered), he posed 
the question of what percentage of apprentices 
completed their first year and final qualification 
(be it two, three or four years)? He believes that 
SOLAS should make that information available, 
as this would put pressure on the universities 
and IOTs in turn to do the same. He described 

the CAO as a market where successful participation requires full information. “If 
there’s one suggestion to come out of today, it’s that the HEA and SOLAS should 
publish the information about the first year and final qualification completion rates 
of apprenticeship.”   
 
Traditionally, Dr Rigney continued, apprenticeships were at Level 6. Referring to 
the Parliamentary questions of 25th October, one third (14) of the 41 or 42 
apprenticeships are in the “new generation” and this number has gone from 2% 
two years ago to 10% now, which he deemed a “respectable increase”.  
 
He drew attention to the example of the Level 7 Electrical Engineering 
apprenticeship at the Limerick Institute of Technology, explaining that a new 
multinational came in and “hoovered up” engineers from everywhere. In facing a 
genuine problem, they chose existing electricians (through a system of block and 
day release) at Level 6 and gave them the study tools to go to Level 7. The 
advantage for the electricians concerned is that they got to be a Level 7 engineer 
and the companies got to work with people they know and grow their own talent.  
 
Dr Rigney spoke about recognizing that the process of recruitment revolves 
around the CAO, remembering being told this by the training manager when he 
was promoting the recruitment of female apprentices for Irish Rail 10 or 15 years 
ago. “We recognise that the idea of the portal is very good as well as 
disseminating information, mainly to the “mammies of Ireland”, so they can make 
informed choices.”  
 

“The HEA and SOLAS 
should publish the 

information about the 
first year and final 

qualification completion 
rates of apprenticeship.” 

Page 47



 35 

He said that this would, however, involve a certain amount of displacement due 
to the new online apprenticeships in insurance, logistics and finance. Having seen 
an advert for insurance apprenticeships in the CIE companies, Dr Rigney believes 
that there is a role for the state sector, namely the city and county councils, to 
start apprentices in such areas as ICT.  
 
He acknowledged that this may result in fewer people coming in at the traditional 
Grade 3 clerical admin route (due to the employment control framework 
equivalent), but given the weight of people employed in admin, he feels it is 
incumbent on the public service to start looking at putting in place 
apprenticeships in logistics, ICT, and possibly finance. He also brought up a 
possible role as an apprentice library assistant, of which the county councils are 
the largest overseers in the country.   
 
“There have to be ways found to put 
appropriate incentives in place for employers 
to employ apprentices. It is also true that 
somewhere midway through the second year, 
employers begin to get a return on the labour 
of the apprentices, which is equivalent to or 
maybe a bit higher than the percentage of the 
rate they’re paid, and this should be borne in 
mind.”  
 
He outlined the importance of the “earn while you learn” concept and that it needs 
to be marketed and promoted. At a policy level, he agreed with Mr Donohoe that 
Ireland will not get the German dual system (which took 1,000 years to develop), 
saying that there are a lot of new apprenticeships whose possible failure was not 
a reason for the media to “pillory” the new system. It needed to be acknowledged 
as an experiment, he said, and not all experiments succeed if they did, “they 
wouldn’t be experiments!” 
 
------------- 
 
The session was opened up to the floor with Jo Twomey from the Dublin North 
West Partnership contributing. She spoke about the Apprenticeship Fair held in 
Finglas and Ballymun for the past three years and her role in recruiting local 
schools to attend along with an information session for schools on 
apprenticeships. She detailed her experience that career guidance counsellors 
know nothing about apprenticeships, that they are a valuable opportunity for 
young people and that there is little understanding of the new apprenticeships. 
She believes that the portal will help as the guidance counsellors are overwhelmed 
with CAO matters and that the “mammies of Ireland” piece is huge.  

“There have to be ways 
found to put appropriate 

incentives in place for 
employers to employ 

apprentices.” 

Page 48



 36 

 
------------- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII. Section 4: Apprenticeships for the Future  
 

 
 
Dublin City Council Chambers, City Hall 
 
Jonathan Brittain, Head of Apprenticeships at the National College of Ireland 
(NCI), introduced the two new apprenticeships in the field of international financial 
services, run with industry partner Financial Services Ireland: the Level 6 Higher 
Certificate aimed at broad entry-level associate positions and a Level 8 Higher 

Page 49



 37 

Diploma aimed at specialist positions in data analytics. Having started in October 
2017, and being almost halfway through the second academic year, there are no 
graduates at this point (given that they are both two-year programmes).  
 
As the name suggests, they are new and different, involving a sector that has no 
experience of apprenticeships, so there is no proven track record to rely on. As an 
education provider in a new apprenticeship, Mr Brittain is continually questioning 
whether the apprenticeships work or not and has applied questions to this end.    
 
Asking if they could attract people to become an international financial services 
(IFS) apprentice, the answer is “yes”, confirming that it is ”grossly oversubscribed” 
with between 400 and 500 applications each year. Asking if people stay on the 
apprenticeship or drop out, he attested to the high levels of retention at almost 
90%, which is far higher than a comparable full-time higher education 
programme. Asking if people pass the course, the answer is “yes”, with all 
apprentices staying on the apprenticeship passing first year and over 85% 
achieving the highest grades, which is again much higher than a comparable 
programme.  
 
Pondering the pass rate and why apprentices do so well, he attributed it to the 
competition for places and rigorous selection process that produces only the best 
applicants, support from the NCI with an assigned academic supervisor in addition 
to a workplace mentor, and most of all, the fact that they are highly motivated 
students.  
 
He said that it was also important to question the job, believing that a trial period 
of two years for the employer and apprentice is more than enough. Making an 
analogy to a relationship staying together for the sake of the kids, he questioned 
if both parties were staying together for the sake of the qualification. In other 
words, “Will we put up with each other ‘til the end of the apprenticeship when the 
qualification is achieved, then part company and each go separately on our merry 
way?” From the employer perspective, he confirmed that they want to produce 
apprentices who will progress into the industry afterwards. Asking if they will hire 
the apprentice after the apprenticeship, it was not possible to tell with no 
graduates as of yet.  
 
In response to the question about whether the young apprentice (generally early 
20s) in their first full-time job wants to work in the same field after the 
apprenticeship (and if the job has met their expectations) and continue working 
for the same employer, he compared tradespeople who have a good idea about 
what a job is like to the new apprentices who cannot display their skills in the same 
way. He drew a parallel with Mr McCabe’s story about craftspeople’s pride in their 
tangible work versus the NAV of an investment fund. While this was a 

Page 50



 38 

disadvantage, he said that they were working hard to display the skills of the new 
apprenticeship, referring to Mr Tracey’s mention of the Ireland Skills Live event 
and the difficulty of participating.  
 
“Getting the message across in terms of what we do and produce 
within the international financial services apprenticeship is hard work.” 
 
What is the perception of being an associate in the investment banking sector, he 
asked, saying that it can be “tricky” getting this concept of being a fund 
accountant across to a 19-year old. “Frequently labelled millennials, generation Z 
or even the snowflake generation, this age group allegedly has low levels of 
resilience, is easily offended and treasures work-life balance above all so what will 
they make of a demanding work environment euphemistically described as fast-
paced, requiring people to work under pressure and meet strict deadlines?”   
 
Responding to the questions previously posed, Mr Brittain confirmed that 100% 
of the second year apprentices wanted a job in international financial services 
when they finished and almost all wished to remain with the same employer (a 
testament to the employers working with NCI). The most cited reasons for wanting 
to remain in the sector were job and promotion opportunities, so one could 
assume they enjoyed the work.  
 
In summary, it was good news as “Lots of people wanted to be an IFS apprentice, 
they were of high quality, stayed on the apprenticeship, got good results, and 
wanted to remain with the same employer afterwards so there is a high level of 
retention for employers”. However, according to Mr Brittain, “all was not quite 
rosy in the garden” due to limited apprenticeship places. In addition to the 12 
“very supportive” employer organisations, he called for more to come on board 
and to take on more apprentices. Given the 35,000 people employed in the sector, 
he stated that the 50 apprentices across both programmes over the two years 
were not enough. Directing a quote by American politician Benjamin Franklin at 
investment banking employers, he concluded, “An investment in knowledge 
always pays the best interest”.   
 
------------- 
 
Aidan Flynn, General Manager with the Freight Transport Association Ireland 
(FTAI), expressed his delight at being invited to present to the summit and 
introduced his organisation as a not-for-profit membership trade association for 
the Irish freight, passenger and logistics industries wholly-owned and governed 
by its members. He outlined its mission as helping members develop safer, more 
efficient and sustainable supply chains and transport operations. He said that the 
association is working hard to enhance the Irish freight and logistics industry's 

Page 51



 39 

influence and image by promoting high standards of safety, professionalism and 
compliance.  
 
He spoke about the rewarding experience of being involved in training and 
education and particularly his chairmanship of the Logistics Associate 
Apprenticeship consortium over the past 12 months. He welcomed the 
opportunity to introduce the new Logistics Associate apprenticeship of which the 
association is extremely proud: it is a two-year Level 6 Higher Certificate in 
Logistics and the first non-craft apprenticeship to be offered by the Dublin 
Institute of Technology (DIT) and the first of the industry-led programmes to be 
delivered by the DIT School of Management.    
 
Mr Flynn confirmed that the FTAI, Irish International Freight Association, Chartered 
Institute of Logistics and Transport, Institute of Chartered Shipbrokers Ireland, 
Supply Chain Management Institute and an impressive list of employers are 
supporting the programme.  
 
“The successful development and launch of the Logistics Associate 
apprenticeship programme really demonstrates what industry can 
achieve when working collaboratively in a short space of time”.  
 
“This consortium of businesses and professional bodies are committed to 
delivering a meaningful, active programme that will deliver the skilled young 
people that the Irish logistics industry needs to keep moving.”   
  
He set the scene by telling the summit that his industry is a vibrant and vital sector 
for the Irish economy but is faced with many challenges such as Brexit, an ageing 
working population and skills shortage. He said that Brexit was shining a light on 
the transport and logistics sector like never before as politicians and stakeholders 
struggle to understand the complexities of the supply chain and contemplate the 
enormity of the decisions to be made that will impact future trade for generations 
to come.  
 
While this poses lots of opportunities for investment, support and innovative new 
ways of doing business, he revealed that the industry, as a career choice, often 
appears to be unattractive to young people. He stressed that it has been less 
successful than others in recruiting younger workers due to many factors, 
including a perception that it is made up of predominantly low-skilled jobs with 
long working hours. He cautioned that this perception must change and 
suggested investment in training and education as a solution. 
 
He referred to the “earn as you learn” apprenticeship and traineeship plan 
launched by the Government in 2016 to offer career options for school-leavers 

Page 52



 40 

and mature students who prefer to have paid, on-the-job training while studying 
for a qualification rather than going to college full-time. He said that the timing 
couldn’t have been better and it is a real challenge for his industry to become 
involved in providing solutions to the skills shortages that have manifested 
themselves over the last number of years, namely finding suitably skilled 
personnel.  
 
He referred to the “Addressing the Demand for Skills in the Freight Transport, 
Distribution and Logistics Sector in Ireland 2015-2020” report findings that, due 
to an anticipated expansion in the sector and the replacement demand for those 
employed in these core occupations, some 13,500 to 15,500 job vacancies could 
become available over the 2015 to 2020 period. He stated that FTAI has surveyed 
its members and found that the skills shortage (across all disciplines) was the 
number one issue for them in 2018. In determining solutions, it is important to 
demonstrate the industry need while information and evidence is critical to 
getting buy-in from a broader cohort of industry. There is no doubt in Mr Flynn’s 
mind that there is a commonality of issues within the industry, so encouraging 
engagement becomes easier.   
 
With the economy nearly at full employment, his sector is competing for suitably 
skilled and committed people who will work and develop their careers within this 
industry. While not a new phenomenon, it is more pronounced and the industry 
is facing a dearth in drivers, warehouse operatives, transport planners, customs 
operatives, freight forwarders etc., so all areas are impacted.  
 
“Collectively, we must consider options and opportunities to promote our 
businesses and attract new people. Individual businesses must nurture and 
develop existing staff and build loyalty within, and most importantly, take 
responsibility to promote their business and industry to discerning new entrants. 
Without a commitment like this, we will not solve the problems nor be in a position 
to future-proof our industry or contribute to a sustainable future that increases 
the numbers interested in working in our sector year-on-year.” 
 
He set out a challenge for the industry to get involved and work to provide a 
solution with broad appeal, as was done with the establishment of the consortium 
for the Logistics Associate apprenticeship. Mr Flynn explained that Declan Allen, 
Assistant Head of School in DIT School of Management, indicated his interest in 
developing an apprenticeship for the industry and in mid-2017 the consortium 
was formed. The group that came together balanced associations with key 
employers in the industry and quickly developed a consensus regarding the 
content, duration and level the programme should be aimed at. The 
apprenticeship proposal was approved for development by the Minister for 
Education, Richard Bruton TD, on 8th December (2017).  

Page 53



 41 

 
“Since then, it’s been all hands on deck by all consortium members demonstrated 
through tireless commitment to our meetings and review of documentation and 
submissions that culminated in the validation of the programme in June 2018. It 
is unprecedented that a two-year Level 6 Award can be developed, prepared and 
made ready within 12 months.”  
 
He stated that the programme was officially launched on 26th September (2018) 
with 27 apprentices from 17 employers, demonstrating the diversity of sectors 
within the industry and representing the shipping sector, own account 
distribution, freight forwarding, warehousing and haulage sectors. He emphasised 
that its success will, over time, be dependent on the number of apprentices and 
employers, but without the buy-in from employers in the first instance it will not 
work.  
 
He pointed out that the “Addressing the Skills Needs Arising from the Potential 
Trade Implications of Brexit” report published in June 2018 (following on from the 
2015 Forfás report) highlights “It is anticipated that there will be a major external 
shock to the Irish economy when the UK leaves the EU.” He elaborated that the 
publication states that the freight transport distribution and logistics labour force 
will require approximately 30,000 new joiners by 2025 due to natural growth and 
attrition, irrespective of the type of Brexit outcome.  
 
He referred to its eight specific recommendations, one of which is to “support the 
development, and promote the roll-out of and engagement with the logistics and 
service apprenticeship programmes”. He said that he expects that their 
apprenticeship will be the start of an image change that will attract new entrants, 
where those seeking employment will be more knowledgeable and aware of the 
exciting and dynamic career paths available to them within the sector. According 
to Mr Flynn, the opportunity that this apprenticeship is affording the industry to 
put logistics on the map cannot be dismissed and confirmed that they now have 
a full-time project manager whose main role will be promotion and awareness-
raising among secondary schools, parents of students, and employers.  
 
“Students will now be thinking of logistics as an option when leaving school. This 
new awareness and the opportunities it affords will help us compete for those 
precious resources that are so badly needed to keep the industry ticking over and 
competitive. In addition, this apprenticeship offers progression and career 
development opportunities for existing employees, which is probably as 
important as attracting new entrants as it will aid the retention of staff and support 
upskilling. In fact, 70% of the new apprentices on the course this year were already 
in employment.” 
 

Page 54



 42 

He said that promoting the career prospects and opportunities for new entrants 
into the sector is vital in future-proofing against skills shortage and an ageing 
workforce, and coupled with raising the standards of compliance and 
professionalism, will ultimately help attract more young people into the sector.  
 
For this to continue, he said it was timely to spotlight future commitment 
requirements: industry must contribute and participate in making the sector 
attractive and it must promote a sector that looks after the welfare of employees 
and offers vibrant and exciting career opportunities as well as supporting ongoing 
professional development. Finally, school-leavers need a more holistic 
understanding of the sector and the type of jobs available at all levels of the supply 
chain. He believes that industry-led apprenticeship programmes should be 
supported as a feeder to developing robust and sustainable career paths within 
the industry. 
 
Mr Flynn highlighted that without employers, apprenticeship programmes will not 
work and that there are a lot of challenges ahead in effectively communicating 
the benefits of apprenticeships to school-leavers, their parents, schools and career 
guidance teachers, and to employers themselves. He pledged that the Logistics 
Associate Apprenticeship Consortium will work hard with the HEA, Apprenticeship 
Ireland and SOLAS to promote apprenticeships and is looking forward to the 
challenge. He views it as a “magnificent opportunity” to use the new Logistics 
Associate Apprenticeship as a resource to help all stakeholder groups to 
understand more clearly what logistics and the supply chain are, and the diverse 
type of career opportunities that exist in the industry.  
 
He said that the FTAI is excited about the opportunity and will work tirelessly to 
promote the programme over the coming years, but it cannot do this on its own, 
so Mr Flynn called on the Government to assist.  
 
“It is vital for the sustainability of apprenticeships that employers are 
engaged and encouraged to participate.” 
 
Obviously, they will be once they understand (and experience) the benefits of 
mixing qualifications and training with work experience, but another way would 
be to support this engagement through an apprenticeship training tax credit. 
Incentivise, in a small way, those employers that commit to paying their staff while 
they learn. As per recently published reports, the freight distribution and logistics 
industry needs at least 30,000 new entrants by 2025, so we need employers to 
really embrace this now.”   
 
In conclusion, he admitted that the future of the freight distribution and logistics 
industry is in the hands of the industry itself.   

Page 55



 43 

 
------------- 
 
Dr Vivienne Patterson, Head of Skills, Engagement and Statistics for the Higher 
Education Authority (HEA), said that she was delighted to be asked to participate 
in the summit and that she would focus her contribution on the future of 
apprenticeships in terms of some of the challenges and possible solutions. She 
reiterated Dr Trant’s statement about taking a step back following a few years of 
the process, to review what has worked and to identify future challenges.  
 
She spoke about apprenticeship being described as an alternative route to an 
education qualification but also a “different pathway to employment”. Like any 
mainstream education qualification, she said that there have to be pathways for 
students to progress if that is their chosen option. Highlighting the positives from 
the new apprenticeship initiative, she mentioned the very close collaboration 
between SOLAS and the HEA, particularly between the ETBs and the higher 
education institutions. According to Dr Patterson, it could be improved through 
an increase in inter-institutional collaboration in developing these pathways, 
referencing the example of the Culinary Arts Apprenticeship, and also maximizing 
available resources over the next few years.  
 

She cited another challenge as the off-the-job 
element of the new apprenticeships that varies 
between one-day to a block to two days per 
week. “Our own higher and further education 
institutions still have in their heads the idea of 
a traditional academic year, and while it’s been 
progressing, it needs more work because we 

need to provide multiple entry routes throughout an academic year, not just a 
start in September but also in January, summer and so on.”  
 
Dr Patterson also broached the topic of emerging learning technologies helping 
with the off-the-job element, illustrating that online learning was proving very 
successful in the Insurance Practice Apprenticeship with its one-day online 
training within the company. “That gives the employer a reassurance that even 
though the apprentices are not working, they’re still in the building. It also 
provides a much greater national reach for an apprenticeship, and with 80 
apprentices on it more or less from the start, it’s been really successful. I think this 
needs to be looked at and developed by our educational institutions.”  
 
By way of the talent pipeline, she reiterated what Dr Rigney said in relation to the 
failure of apprenticeships in a new area not constituting a disaster, and that they 
are not necessarily a fit for every single sector. She suggested a more targeted 

“We need to provide 
multiple entry routes 

throughout an academic 
year, not just a start in 

September.” 

Page 56



 44 

approach in developing new apprenticeships for the future, as well as identifying 
the sectors with a significant skills need nationally and regionally and those that 
are a good fit.  
 
She recognizes that promotion is important yet difficult given the number of 
different groups involved, including employers, school-leavers, lifelong-learners, 
career-changers, and people whose careers will be impacted by automation 
developments. “We have a lot of people to try to target.”  
 
Having recently participated in the independent review of career guidance set up 
by the Department of Education and Skills, it was clear that the CAO website was 
easy to access as a one-stop-shop and that most users had made up their minds 
about their path already. Everything was accessible to the student, career 
guidance teacher and the “mothers of Ireland”, she said, revealing that almost 
100% of survey respondents identified their mothers as the biggest influence in 
their choices.  

 
She also spoke about promoting 
apprenticeships by looking at outcomes, 
indicating that the higher education sector has 
been publishing progression rates for the past 
decade and is due to issue a comprehensive 
completion report in the next couple of weeks. 
“Both SOLAS and the HEA now have data 
analysts working within the CSO and we’re 
collaborating on a number of projects to see 
how we can look at the movement between 
further and higher education, what the 
opportunities are for apprentices, where 

they’re finding employment and how their careers are progressing on a 
longitudinal basis.”  
 
In addition to past surveys conducted six to nine months after graduation, she 
explained that the National Data Infrastructure along with the CSO will facilitate 
this by looking out over several years to see if apprentices are doing other 
qualifications, moving out of apprenticeship into other careers and how their 
salary is being affected going forward. To this end, she foresees a lot of outputs 
in the next year or so. 
 
Referring to the SOLAS publication on Progression Pathways and Access to 
Apprenticeship in DIT (involving John Sisk & Son facilities), she described this 
initiative as combining access and apprenticeship and giving students from lower 
socio-economic (“disadvantaged”) areas the opportunity to look at an array of 

“Both SOLAS and the 
HEA now have data 

analysts working within 
the CSO and we’re 
collaborating on a 

number of projects to 
see…what the 

opportunities are for 
apprentices.” 

Page 57



 45 

apprenticeships. Based on a presentation the previous day, Dr Patterson 
concluded, “It was amazing to see the development of the students on this course 
from start to finish, the soft skills they picked up, how they developed teamwork 
and thought about apprenticeships in areas other than highlighted ones such as 
carpentry, brick-laying and plumbing. It’s important to develop that on a national 
scale – DIT has taken the lead but they’re hoping to move to other centres in 
Ireland.”  
 
------------- 
 
On opening the summit to the floor for the last time, Dublin City Councillor Paul 
McAuliffe thanked the participants and organisers, commending the convening 
of the key players in the apprenticeship area to predict future challenges. He 
spoke about the Economic and Community Plan touching on the community and 
economic elements of the challenges for the city. He referred to the research, 
focus groups and engagement on the plan, with people talking about the quality 
of life that employment brought and employers talking about skills and education, 
describing this as “two sides of the same coin, not competing interests”.  
 

 
 
Dublin City Councillor, Paul McAuliffe 
 

Page 58



 46 

In his first job in the National Joint Industrial 
Council for the electrical contracting and 
construction industry, he observed that 
industries that continue to recruit apprentices 
are able to have predictable supplies of labour 
and more realistic wage structures, while the 
sectors that don’t often go from crisis to crisis 
in terms of labour shortage. “The 2028 labour shortage is already at us, we’re not 
going to be able to solve that yet and we need to work now on the shortage that 
follows that.”  
 
He spoke about the link between the flow of apprentices coming in, the stability 
around wages and competitiveness, and the delivery of large infrastructure 
projects, referencing Metro North and the likely labour shortage on that project 
(upon commencement).  
 
“We need to make sure that those major infrastructure projects deliver 
apprenticeship opportunities.” 
 
He referred to Dr Redmond’s points on the major issue of housing and its impact 
on the skills shortage in Dublin, affirming that this needs to be addressed. He 
found Mr McCabe’s contribution really powerful and spoke to the experience of 
apprenticeship giving a sense of identity and satisfaction.  He spoke about the 
need to work with both sides of the table in terms of supports for businesses and 
employers for both the new apprenticeships and traditional crafts, the idea of 
sharing apprentices, and the on- and off-the-job training being different in 
different industries. He also said that the site-by-site employment basis in the 
construction industry is a challenge as it undoubtedly suits in the short-term but 
doesn’t provide for skills shortages in the long-run.  
 
“We need to make sure that apprenticeships compete with the Level 7s – it needs 
to be more attractive in the next seven years to do an apprenticeship than it is to 
do a Level 7. It has to be done in a financial manner as the only way we’re going 
to meet the skills shortage is by getting people not only to be in education but to 
be in education and employment at the same time.” 
 
He talked about structured training with an ability to earn for employees and 
labour supply that is predictable for the employers. Alluding to the discussion over 
the past week, he concluded “Reducing personal taxation will help the workforce 
over the short-term but we cash in the benefit too early in my view, we need to 
invest in skills and long-term supply of labour to make us competitive over the 
long-term.” 
 

“The 2028 labour 
shortage is already at 
us…we need to work 
now on the shortage 

that follows that.” 

Page 59



 47 

------------- 
 
Paul Sweetman, Director or Financial Services Ireland in IBEC, referred to the new 
consortia and Mr Brittain’s comments, attesting to the high number of applicants 
for the International Financial Services apprenticeships, with 50 people 
undertaking it. He remarked on the high quality outputs for employers and 
apprentices and the dedication of the companies’ brands to the programme, but 
he said that there is an issue with the number of companies getting involved.  

 
He made the point that it was not just a new 
apprenticeship but also a new concept for 
these companies and that they needed to be 
convinced of their value in the absence of 
being able to point to apprentices who had 
gone through the system and are now leading 
organisations. He explained that some of these 

companies are part of global systems, with headquarters outside of Ireland and a 
series of processes to navigate in order to even accept the apprenticeship 
programme. He proposed one solution as the provision of additional resources 
for the consortia to market to these companies as well as to potential apprentices, 
by taking the time and resources to set up individual meetings with them to drive 
the company-specific style of marketing. “Getting the companies involved is 
critical and it’s definitely the piece that we’ve noticed needs to be improved upon.”   
 
------------- 
 
In the final general contribution for this part of the summit, Siobhan O’Shea, 
recently appointed Chair of the Dublin Regional Skills Forum and Director at CPL, 
introduced a new initiative called “Open Doors” aimed at supporting the 
marginalized parts of society. She told of 15 companies that are creating 
awareness to activate opportunities for the long-term youth unemployed and 
people with disabilities along with nurturing better support for refugees and 
asylum-seekers. She attested to Ireland as having the lowest female participation 
rate in Europe and highlighted this as untapped potential and an opportunity for 
apprenticeships.  
 
Ms O’Shea referred to Mr Carey’s comment in relation to the National Training 
Fund and said that there was no vision or plan as to what is to happen, whether 
there is scope for upskilling, reskilling or lifelong learning. Speaking about the 
portal, she emphasized the lack of understanding of where career guidance 
teachers can go to find this type of knowledge. 
 
------------- 

“Getting the companies 
involved is critical and 
it’s definitely the piece 

that we’ve noticed needs 
to be improved upon.” 

Page 60



 48 

 
In closing the Dublin City Apprenticeship Summit, Councillor Deirdre Heney 
shared her reason for getting involved and remaining in public life as a desire to 
do what she could to improve the quality of life for people in the city. She repeated 
words that sprang to mind during the summit: “Career guidance, supporting 
employers, shortage of the wet trades, small employers ill affording to send 
apprentices off-the-job to be trained, an apprenticeship tax credit to support 
employers – I see this as a positive and key suggestion to take on board to prepare 
for the future”.   

 
Councillor Heney spoke about collaboration 
and referred to Mr McCabe’s input to “ensure 
we listen to people who know the score and 
talk to those who know what is required”. In 
praise of having different forms of 
apprenticeships, she observed a recent event at 
which David McWilliams spoke about some 

secondary school pupils being good at cramming in an exam setting yet others 
as the ones who created businesses. She paraphrased Mr McWilliams, saying that 
there was a need to support this to create a better quality of life for Irish people 
and a country to be proud of, and to prepare for the future and events such as 
Brexit.  
 
She said that she will encourage the submission of the Summit Outcomes Report 
to the Government to ensure the success of the summit, and indicated that she 
would be highly supportive of any further facilitation to progress future needs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A: Key Facts & Figures   
 
Dr Mary-Liz Trant, Executive Director Skills Development, SOLAS 
• Review by Apprenticeship Council to establish state-of-play with 

apprenticeship expansion of past three to four years; 

“Ensure we listen to 
people who know the 
score and talk to those 

who know what is 
required.” 

Page 61



 49 

• Several hard, tangible targets until 2020 with planned threefold increase in 
available programmes – 70 compared to 42 in 2018 and 25 in 2015;  

• New apprenticeships available in logistics, recruitment, biopharma, 
technology, finance, and other 21st century areas;  

• Building on strong track record in craft areas such as construction and 
business; 

• Apprenticeships ranging from Level 5 up to Level 10 (PhD) on the Framework 
of Qualifications;  

• University of Limerick’s Level 10 Principal Engineer to be the first available 
industrial PhD in Ireland;  

• 3,000 employers using apprenticeships four years ago, about 5,500 in 2018 
and target of 7,000 by 2020;  

• Over 500 employers taking on apprentices in the new programmes – 
expectation for this to double then triple in the next one to two years; 

• Need to build on narrative of the who, what and how of apprenticeships – they 
are open to people of all backgrounds, ages and abilities;  

• Mindset change needed within company recruitment practices and systems as 
well as amongst career guidance teachers and parents;  

• Upon apprenticeship validation, clear arrangements to be in place in case of 
apprentice redundancy so they can complete their qualification regardless;  

• Review of “Pathways to Participation in Apprenticeship”: looking at the profile 
of who apprentices are, with targets and steps being set.    

 
Dr Paul Redmond, Research Officer, ESRI 
• Distinction between genuine skills shortages and other types of recruitment 

difficulties - the lack of suitably qualified people to fill available roles once firms 
are offering appropriate pay, conditions, and contracts;  

• ESRI Report on potential sources of future labour supply in the construction 
industry: barriers to residential mobility (c.f. high cost of accommodation in 
parts of Dublin and elsewhere) can lead to persistent skills mismatches and 
shortages;  

• CIF report on employers: large amount of residual uncertainty (fear for the 
future) in the industry is deterring the employment of apprentices for up to 
four years;  

• 2015 ESRI survey revealed fear among employees;  
• Recommendation: important to have some way to promote apprenticeships 

as a viable option to young people while recognising the challenge given 
continuing uncertainty among employers; 

• Ireland ranked as fourth highest in overskilling (skills underutilization) and 
seventh highest in underskilling (inadequate skills) in Europe;  

• The more vocational educational career choices and jobs tend to be 
associated with lower levels of mismatch;  

 48 

 
In closing the Dublin City Apprenticeship Summit, Councillor Deirdre Heney 
shared her reason for getting involved and remaining in public life as a desire to 
do what she could to improve the quality of life for people in the city. She repeated 
words that sprang to mind during the summit: “Career guidance, supporting 
employers, shortage of the wet trades, small employers ill affording to send 
apprentices off-the-job to be trained, an apprenticeship tax credit to support 
employers – I see this as a positive and key suggestion to take on board to prepare 
for the future”.   

 
Councillor Heney spoke about collaboration 
and referred to Mr McCabe’s input to “ensure 
we listen to people who know the score and 
talk to those who know what is required”. In 
praise of having different forms of 
apprenticeships, she observed a recent event at 
which David McWilliams spoke about some 

secondary school pupils being good at cramming in an exam setting yet others 
as the ones who created businesses. She paraphrased Mr McWilliams, saying that 
there was a need to support this to create a better quality of life for Irish people 
and a country to be proud of, and to prepare for the future and events such as 
Brexit.  
 
She said that she will encourage the submission of the Summit Outcomes Report 
to the Government to ensure the success of the summit, and indicated that she 
would be highly supportive of any further facilitation to progress future needs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A: Key Facts & Figures   
 
Dr Mary-Liz Trant, Executive Director Skills Development, SOLAS 
• Review by Apprenticeship Council to establish state-of-play with 

apprenticeship expansion of past three to four years; 

“Ensure we listen to 
people who know the 
score and talk to those 

who know what is 
required.” 

Page 62



 50 

• Mismatched apprentices result in job satisfaction cost plus possible wage 
penalties and lost productivity for employers;  

• Skills mismatch among construction and trades in Ireland is well below the 
European average – only 3%.  

 
Tony Donohoe, Head of Education and Social Policy, IBEC  
• The challenge with the speed of the roll-out of the new apprenticeship model 

should not have been underestimated as it is a major cultural and economic 
shift in the way business is done;  

• German, Austrian and Swiss models cannot simply be transposed to Ireland;  
• Challenge of expanding apprenticeship into non-construction areas as well as 

cultural challenges around learners to show different opportunities (other than 
direct entry into third level), c.f. good work of ‘Generation Apprenticeship’;  

• Current window of opportunity to focus employers’ attention on the skills and 
labour market shortages evident in most areas of the economy;  

• Employers unaccustomed to recruiting and developing staff through 
apprenticeships, with many SMEs time poor and with limited resources –
suggestion to help with the cost of providing apprenticeships, especially 
paying off-the-job wages of apprentices;  

• Important recommendation from “Pathways to Participation in 
Apprenticeship”: a single portal where employers can go and post their 
apprenticeship opportunities.  

 
Natasha Kinsella, Department of Education & Manager, Dublin Regional Skills 
Forum  
• Dublin accounts for 30% of the employment, outperforming the national 

average in most of the labour market indicators, but a considerable cohort is 
completely disengaged from employment and/or educational training 
provision;  

• Serious challenge to attract and retain talent across a wide variety of sectors, 
including construction, ICT, health, wholesale, retail, accommodation, food, 
financial and services;   

• In bridging the gap between education and provision, apprenticeships feature 
strongly by allowing individuals to work and learn while allowing employers to 
build the talent pipeline for the future; 

• Awareness about the offerings and potential pathways is still a particular 
struggle for employers as they are not quite sure how to navigate around the 
system;  

• In Dublin, most of the provision is progressing well, with offerings in financial 
services, tourism, hospitality, ICT, construction, logistics and transport, sales 
and retail, and biopharma and medtech sectors;  

Page 63



 51 

• Continuation of the dialogue and support for employers is the solution for 
different pathways (apprenticeship and traineeships) to ensure the talent 
pipeline for the future.   

 
David Tracey, Training Centre Manager, John Sisk & Son 
• Success of any company is built on its people and apprenticeships definitely 

play a significant role in this;  
• Started 10 new apprentices in carpentry and joinery three weeks ago, including 

one female, and are encouraging more women to enter the construction 
industry; 

• Enthusiasm of these young people learning skills from the start is inspiring and 
very important to the company going forward; 

• Standard-based system, with on- and off-the-job training and the parts played 
by SOLAS, the ETBs and IOTs are critical as they produce highly skilled and 
qualified people in all trades at the end of four years;  

• Aware of the skills shortage, particularly in the wet trades such as bricklaying, 
plastering and painting;  

• Changes needed to how small employers can employ apprentices given the 
big commitment (taking apprentices on for four years), so exploring ideas like 
apprentice sharing;  

• Message to employers: recruit more, engage more with the ETBs and SOLAS, 
and advocate for employment incentives;  

• Ireland Skills Live event scheduled for 21st to 23rd March 2019 at the RDS: 
encouraging summit participants and every Irish school as well as career 
guidance counsellors, parents and the “mammies of Ireland” to attend (hopes 
it will become an annual event);  

• Generation Apprenticeship competition run by SOLAS is very good and should 
be supported by more employers.   

 
Mary Tyrrell, Performance and Development Unit, Human Resources, Dublin City 
Council  
• Junior Apprenticeship Programme in DCC: provision made in the Council’s 

2018 budget as need identified across the Housing and Community Services 
and Environment and Transportation Departments;  

• Designed collaboratively between HR, SOLAS and the local departments, with 
huge interest and applications arising from the public advert in March 2018; 

• Following suitability assessments and interviews, 18 apprenticeships offered 
(six brick and stonelayers, four carpenters, four plumbers and four electricians); 

• Commenced on 24th September (2018) with induction process, phased 
programme for four years minimum, combining on-the-job training and 
classroom-based learning;  

Page 64



 52 

• Apprentices being monitored and assessed by DCC Supervisor, ETB and 
college tutor, and on successful completion, will be qualified in respective 
trades and eligible to apply for future positions at DCC. 

 
Brendan McCabe, Area Maintenance Officer, Housing and Community 
Department, Dublin City Council  
• Strong advocate of apprenticeship with first-hand experience of the benefits 

(sense of achievement, pride and job satisfaction that apprentices take in their 
work cannot be bought);  

• Biggest fear is losing the chance to recruit gifted tradespeople due to the 
amount of exams and third-level education required to complete an 
apprenticeship – society is ruling out a vast cohort who do not like academic 
education but are intelligent and excellent problem-solvers; 

• Important to look closely at how the formal educational part of the 
apprenticeship scheme is being delivered and look at returning to one-day 
off-the-job training or less intense form of delivery as an easier sell and chance 
for apprentices to speak with work mentors who can possibly explain theories 
in more practical ways;  

• Can small employers afford to let their staff go off-the-job for three to five 
months when there is a project to complete, and is this block release 
preventing small employers from taking on apprentices? 

• Need to look at various levels of qualifications within each trade as a way of 
allowing those who just want to work to succeed, but also facilitating those 
who wish to further their careers; 

• Apprenticeships should be left to tradespeople and industry to design and 
operate as they know what they want from their craftspeople;  

• DCC is currently involved with “Access to Apprenticeship” scheme in 
conjunction with DIT to give young people with no formal educational 
qualifications and without minimum requirements to enter a craft with the 
chance to work as an apprentice for three months;  

• In recruiting apprentices, minimum education requirements should be hand-
eye coordination and a genuine passion and vocation for a trade - quality of 
work, an ability to solve problems and adapt are the most important things 
needed in a craftsperson; 

• Perhaps now is the time to look at what society actually needs from its 
craftspeople and not what theorists believe craftspeople really need. 

 
Dermot Carey, Director of Safety and Training, Construction Industry Federation 
(CIF) 
• Construction industry is worth €20 billion and growing at about 7% per 

annum, resulting in an increase of 18,000 people in 2017 (no sign of let-up) 
and a pent-up demand for skills;  

Page 65



 53 

• 2016 DKM and SOLAS report forecasts a need for 112,000 people over the next 
three to four years; 

• Construction industry has always been a supporter and promoter of 
apprenticeships, with about 8,000 presently;  

• Promotion of apprenticeship through SOLAS’ “Generation Apprentice” 
initiative and “Pathways to Participation in Apprenticeship” are positive;  

• Connecting with the career guidance teachers is a major opportunity to 
market a job in construction, but career guidance teachers need a central place 
to find jobs, c.f. upcoming inclusion of the marketplace on the 
apprenticeship.ie website from SOLAS; 

• Huge opportunities within traineeships as companies can respond quickly and 
give good qualifications to people, so that route should not be ignored;  

• Career guidance counsellors and the Institute of Career Guidance, technology 
teachers and SOLAS are good advocates committed to promoting 
apprenticeship;  

• Key difference between apprenticeships and any other type of training is the 
need for employers – need to bring them on board as well as the apprentices; 

• 22 weeks time off-the-job is too much for a small employer and needs to be 
facilitated;  

• For new apprenticeships, off-the-job training phases having to be paid for by 
the employer is a huge disincentive for small employers – the National Training 
Fund can address that;  

• Bad decisions in the last couple of years include the introduction of student 
fees for apprentices in 2014 (cost eventually comes back onto the employer) 
and the current attempt to tax off-the-job payments for apprentices by 
revenue. 

 
Ciaran King, General Manager, King and Moffatt  
• Except for eight apprentices, King and Moffatt stopped apprenticeship training 

between 2008 and 2013 due to the economic downturn;   
• Changed its recruitment approach by promoting apprenticeships through the 

local schools and main newspapers resulting in 70 applications and the hire of 
10 apprentices, including a Level 8 Quantity Surveyor and Mechanical 
Engineer, showing the calibre of people attracted into apprenticeship;  

• Big advantages for apprentices: immediate entry, earning on-the-job, getting 
a feel for the work within the first year and earning when they go onto college;  

• On apprenticeship fees, smaller employers can’t afford to pay for sending 
students back to college and these huge costs can be put back on apprentices 
which is very discouraging;  

• Opportunity to travel is immense, as apprenticeship is so transferable and Irish 
apprentices are very well recognised across Europe and the world, and should 
be promoted within the industry; 

Page 66



 54 

• Those working in the career guidance area should be invited onto the Dublin 
Regional Skills Forum (they could learn a lot from the ITs, SOLAS, ETBs, CIF, 
IBEC, and local councils about what is available from industry);  

• Electrical and mechanical apprenticeships should be left as they are but block-
laying and painting areas possibly need to be looked at in terms of changing 
apprenticeships and shortening the programmes on- and off-the-job;  

• Huge advantages to the one or two day a week off-the-job training for certain 
roles within companies as they tend to be systematic, so people can learn 
“small skills” off-the-job;  

• Sponsoring the Building Information Modelling (BIM) at the Ireland Skills Live 
event and there is scope for a one-day a week apprenticeship in this field;  

• Need to focus on the recruitment process and the attitude towards it.   
 
Peter Rigney, Industrial Officer, ICTU  
• Mammies of Ireland are an important sell and apprenticeships should play to 

their strengths;  
• HEA and SOLAS should publish the information about first year and final 

qualification completion rates of apprenticeship to put pressure on the 
universities and IOTs to do same;  

• One third (14) of the 41 or 42 apprenticeships are in the new generation areas, 
a respectable increase from 2% two years ago to 10% now;  

• Example of Level 7 Electrical Engineering apprenticeship at the Limerick 
Institute of Technology, where a new multinational chose existing electricians 
(through block and day release) at Level 6 and gave them study tools to go to 
Level 7 (electricians got to be a Level 7 engineer and companies got to work 
with people they knew and grow their own talent);  

• Idea of the portal and information dissemination, mainly to the mammies of 
Ireland, are very good so they can make informed choices; 

• Displacement due to new apprenticeships online in insurance, logistics and 
finance, and there is a role for the state sector (city and county councils) to 
start apprenticeships in areas such as ICT, logistics, and possibly finance as well 
as library assistant;  

• Appropriate incentives needed for employers to employ apprentices, while 
remembering that roughly midway through the second year, employers begin 
to get a return on the labour of the apprentices that is equivalent to or maybe 
a bit higher than the percentage of the rate they are paid; 

• Concept of earn while you learn is important and needs to be marketed and 
promoted;  

• Possible failure of the new apprenticeships is not a reason for the media to 
pillory the new system, as it must be acknowledged as an experiment where 
not all apprenticeships may succeed.  

 
Jonathan Brittain, Head of Apprenticeships, National College of Ireland (NCI) 

Page 67



 55 

• Two apprenticeships in the field of international financial services, run with 
industry partner Financial Services Ireland: the Level 6 Higher Certificate aimed 
at broad entry-level associate positions and a Level 8 Higher Diploma aimed 
at specialist positions in data analytics;  

• These two-year programmes started in October 2017 (no graduates yet) and 
are new and different, in a sector with no experience of apprenticeships, so 
there is no proven track record to rely on; 

• They can attract people to become international financial services (IFS) 
apprentices – it is grossly oversubscribed with 400 to 500 applications each 
year; 

• People stay on the apprenticeship and do not drop out – almost 90% retention 
rate (far higher than a comparable full-time higher education programme); 

• Apprentices pass the course – all passing first year and over 85% achieving the 
highest grades; 

• Apprentices do well due to the competition for places and rigorous selection 
process producing only the best applicants, support from the NCI (with an 
assigned academic supervisor in addition to a workplace mentor) and because 
they are highly motivated students;   

• A trial period of two years for the employer and apprentice is more than 
enough;  

• Both parties are not staying together for the sake of the qualification – 
employers want to produce apprentices who will progress into the industry 
afterwards (not possible to tell if they will hire them afterwards as there are no 
graduates yet);  

• Getting this concept of being a fund accountant across to a young age group 
is tricky as they allegedly have low levels of resilience, are easily offended and 
treasure work-life balance above all so what will they make of a demanding 
work environment described as fast-paced, requiring people to work under 
pressure and meet strict deadlines?   

• The disadvantage for the new apprentices is that they cannot display their 
skills in the same way as tradespeople, who can point to their work, but NCI is 
working hard on addressing this;  

• 100% of the second year apprentices wanted a job in international financial 
services when they finished and almost all wished to remain with the same 
employer due to the job and promotion opportunities and work enjoyment;   

• In addition to the 12 employer organisations, more need to come on board 
and take on more apprentices (given the 35,000 people employed in the 
sector, 50 apprentices across both programmes over the two years is not 
enough).  

 
Aidan Flynn, General Manager, Freight Transport Association Ireland (FTAI)  
• New Logistics Associate Apprenticeship: a two-year Level 6 Higher Certificate 

(first non-craft apprenticeship on offer by DIT and first industry-led 

Jonathan Brittain, Head of Apprenticeships, National College of Ireland (NCI)

Page 68



 55 

• Two apprenticeships in the field of international financial services, run with 
industry partner Financial Services Ireland: the Level 6 Higher Certificate aimed 
at broad entry-level associate positions and a Level 8 Higher Diploma aimed 
at specialist positions in data analytics;  

• These two-year programmes started in October 2017 (no graduates yet) and 
are new and different, in a sector with no experience of apprenticeships, so 
there is no proven track record to rely on; 

• They can attract people to become international financial services (IFS) 
apprentices – it is grossly oversubscribed with 400 to 500 applications each 
year; 

• People stay on the apprenticeship and do not drop out – almost 90% retention 
rate (far higher than a comparable full-time higher education programme); 

• Apprentices pass the course – all passing first year and over 85% achieving the 
highest grades; 

• Apprentices do well due to the competition for places and rigorous selection 
process producing only the best applicants, support from the NCI (with an 
assigned academic supervisor in addition to a workplace mentor) and because 
they are highly motivated students;   

• A trial period of two years for the employer and apprentice is more than 
enough;  

• Both parties are not staying together for the sake of the qualification – 
employers want to produce apprentices who will progress into the industry 
afterwards (not possible to tell if they will hire them afterwards as there are no 
graduates yet);  

• Getting this concept of being a fund accountant across to a young age group 
is tricky as they allegedly have low levels of resilience, are easily offended and 
treasure work-life balance above all so what will they make of a demanding 
work environment described as fast-paced, requiring people to work under 
pressure and meet strict deadlines?   

• The disadvantage for the new apprentices is that they cannot display their 
skills in the same way as tradespeople, who can point to their work, but NCI is 
working hard on addressing this;  

• 100% of the second year apprentices wanted a job in international financial 
services when they finished and almost all wished to remain with the same 
employer due to the job and promotion opportunities and work enjoyment;   

• In addition to the 12 employer organisations, more need to come on board 
and take on more apprentices (given the 35,000 people employed in the 
sector, 50 apprentices across both programmes over the two years is not 
enough).  

 
Aidan Flynn, General Manager, Freight Transport Association Ireland (FTAI)  
• New Logistics Associate Apprenticeship: a two-year Level 6 Higher Certificate 

(first non-craft apprenticeship on offer by DIT and first industry-led 

 56 

programme delivered by its School of Management) with 27 apprentices from 
17 employers;    

• Supported by FTAI, Irish International Freight Association, Chartered Institute 
of Logistics and Transport, Institute of Chartered Shipbrokers Ireland, Supply 
Chain Management Institute and employers;  

• Transport and logistics is a vibrant and vital sector but facing challenges such 
as Brexit, an ageing working population and skills shortage;  

• Less successful in recruiting younger workers due to perception of 
predominantly low-skilled jobs with long working hours – must change this by 
investing in training and education;  

• “Addressing the Demand for Skills in the Freight Transport, Distribution and 
Logistics Sector in Ireland 2015-2020” report: 13,500 to 15,500 job vacancies 
could become available over this period;  

• FTAI member survey: skills shortage was number one issue in 2018;  
• Information and evidence is critical to getting buy-in from broader cohort of 

industry;  
• Industry must collectively consider options and opportunities to promote 

businesses and attract new people, while individual businesses must nurture 
and develop existing staff, build loyalty within and take responsibility to 
promote themselves and their industry to discerning new entrants; 

• “Addressing the Skills Needs Arising from the Potential Trade Implications of 
Brexit” report (June 2018): labour force will require approximately 30,000 new 
joiners by 2025 due to natural growth and attrition; 

• This apprenticeship will be the start of an image change that will attract new 
entrants as well as offering progression and career development options for 
existing employees – opportunity to put logistics on the map cannot be 
dismissed and a full-time project manager will be responsible for promotion;  

• Industry-led apprenticeship programmes should be supported as a feeder to 
developing robust and sustainable career paths within the industry; 

• Without employers, apprenticeship programmes will not work but there are 
challenges in communicating the benefits of apprenticeships to them, school-
leavers, parents, schools, and career guidance teachers;  

• Consortium will work hard with the HEA, Apprenticeship Ireland and SOLAS to 
promote apprenticeships and use them to help stakeholder groups to 
understand logistics, the supply chain and the diverse career opportunities 
available;  

• Need the Government to assist with employer engagement – could be 
supported through an apprenticeship training tax credit.  

 
Dr Vivienne Patterson, Head of Skills, Engagement and Statistics, HEA  
• Apprenticeships described as an alternative route to an education qualification 

but also as a different pathway to employment; 

Page 69



 57 

• Like any mainstream education qualification, there must be pathways for 
students to progress in an apprenticeship;  

• Positives from the new apprenticeship initiative are the close collaboration 
between SOLAS and the HEA, particularly the ETBs and higher education 
institutions, although it could be improved through an increase in inter-
institutional collaboration in developing these pathways and maximizing 
available resources over the next few years;   

• Another challenge is the off-the-job part of the new apprenticeships – need 
to provide multiple entry routes throughout an academic year (not just a start 
in September but also in January, summer, etc.);  

• Online learning is proving very successful in the Insurance Practice 
Apprenticeship, and needs to be looked at and developed by the educational 
institutions; 

• Need a more targeted approach in developing new apprenticeships for the 
future, as well as identifying sectors with a significant skills need nationally and 
regionally and those that are a good fit;  

• Promotion is important yet difficult given the number of different groups 
involved, including employers, school-leavers, lifelong learners, career 
changers, and people whose careers are going to be impacted by automation 
developments;  

• In promoting apprenticeship by looking at outcomes, the higher education 
sector has been publishing progression rates for the past decade and is due 
to issue a comprehensive completion report in the next couple of weeks; 

• SOLAS and the HEA have data analysts working within the CSO and are 
working collaboratively on projects to look at the movement between further 
and higher education, what the opportunities are for apprentices, where they 
are finding employment and how their careers are progressing on a 
longitudinal basis; 

• National Data Infrastructure and CSO will be able to look out over several years 
to see if apprentices are doing other qualifications, moving out of 
apprenticeship into other careers and how their salary is being affected going 
forward - a lot of outputs are due in the next year or so; 

• Access to Apprenticeship initiative in DIT combines access and apprenticeship 
and gives students from lower socio-economic (“disadvantaged”) areas the 
opportunity to look at an array of apprenticeships – important to develop that 
on a national scale (DIT has taken the lead but is hoping to move to other 
centres in Ireland). 

 
 
 
 
Greg Swift, Head of Economic Development, Dublin City Council  

 56 

programme delivered by its School of Management) with 27 apprentices from 
17 employers;    

• Supported by FTAI, Irish International Freight Association, Chartered Institute 
of Logistics and Transport, Institute of Chartered Shipbrokers Ireland, Supply 
Chain Management Institute and employers;  

• Transport and logistics is a vibrant and vital sector but facing challenges such 
as Brexit, an ageing working population and skills shortage;  

• Less successful in recruiting younger workers due to perception of 
predominantly low-skilled jobs with long working hours – must change this by 
investing in training and education;  

• “Addressing the Demand for Skills in the Freight Transport, Distribution and 
Logistics Sector in Ireland 2015-2020” report: 13,500 to 15,500 job vacancies 
could become available over this period;  

• FTAI member survey: skills shortage was number one issue in 2018;  
• Information and evidence is critical to getting buy-in from broader cohort of 

industry;  
• Industry must collectively consider options and opportunities to promote 

businesses and attract new people, while individual businesses must nurture 
and develop existing staff, build loyalty within and take responsibility to 
promote themselves and their industry to discerning new entrants; 

• “Addressing the Skills Needs Arising from the Potential Trade Implications of 
Brexit” report (June 2018): labour force will require approximately 30,000 new 
joiners by 2025 due to natural growth and attrition; 

• This apprenticeship will be the start of an image change that will attract new 
entrants as well as offering progression and career development options for 
existing employees – opportunity to put logistics on the map cannot be 
dismissed and a full-time project manager will be responsible for promotion;  

• Industry-led apprenticeship programmes should be supported as a feeder to 
developing robust and sustainable career paths within the industry; 

• Without employers, apprenticeship programmes will not work but there are 
challenges in communicating the benefits of apprenticeships to them, school-
leavers, parents, schools, and career guidance teachers;  

• Consortium will work hard with the HEA, Apprenticeship Ireland and SOLAS to 
promote apprenticeships and use them to help stakeholder groups to 
understand logistics, the supply chain and the diverse career opportunities 
available;  

• Need the Government to assist with employer engagement – could be 
supported through an apprenticeship training tax credit.  

 
Dr Vivienne Patterson, Head of Skills, Engagement and Statistics, HEA  
• Apprenticeships described as an alternative route to an education qualification 

but also as a different pathway to employment; 

Page 70



 57 

• Like any mainstream education qualification, there must be pathways for 
students to progress in an apprenticeship;  

• Positives from the new apprenticeship initiative are the close collaboration 
between SOLAS and the HEA, particularly the ETBs and higher education 
institutions, although it could be improved through an increase in inter-
institutional collaboration in developing these pathways and maximizing 
available resources over the next few years;   

• Another challenge is the off-the-job part of the new apprenticeships – need 
to provide multiple entry routes throughout an academic year (not just a start 
in September but also in January, summer, etc.);  

• Online learning is proving very successful in the Insurance Practice 
Apprenticeship, and needs to be looked at and developed by the educational 
institutions; 

• Need a more targeted approach in developing new apprenticeships for the 
future, as well as identifying sectors with a significant skills need nationally and 
regionally and those that are a good fit;  

• Promotion is important yet difficult given the number of different groups 
involved, including employers, school-leavers, lifelong learners, career 
changers, and people whose careers are going to be impacted by automation 
developments;  

• In promoting apprenticeship by looking at outcomes, the higher education 
sector has been publishing progression rates for the past decade and is due 
to issue a comprehensive completion report in the next couple of weeks; 

• SOLAS and the HEA have data analysts working within the CSO and are 
working collaboratively on projects to look at the movement between further 
and higher education, what the opportunities are for apprentices, where they 
are finding employment and how their careers are progressing on a 
longitudinal basis; 

• National Data Infrastructure and CSO will be able to look out over several years 
to see if apprentices are doing other qualifications, moving out of 
apprenticeship into other careers and how their salary is being affected going 
forward - a lot of outputs are due in the next year or so; 

• Access to Apprenticeship initiative in DIT combines access and apprenticeship 
and gives students from lower socio-economic (“disadvantaged”) areas the 
opportunity to look at an array of apprenticeships – important to develop that 
on a national scale (DIT has taken the lead but is hoping to move to other 
centres in Ireland). 

 
 
 
 
Greg Swift, Head of Economic Development, Dublin City Council  

 58 

• Summarised summit contributions by highlighting that apprenticeship is a new 
way forward and there needs to be a shift of emphasis; 

• Many new areas of apprenticeship including logistics, technology, business, 
finance, food, medical and others;  

• Need to look at incentives for employers in particular but also apprentices;  
• National Training Fund is a topic that needs to be addressed;  
• Examples of new apprenticeships, namely in finance with the NCI, logistics with 

the FTAI and the traditional crafts at DCC, show what an apprenticeship is, 
what it means and how it works;  

• Big need for promotion, c.f. you earn while you learn; it’s only a method of 
learning; learning on the job; and getting career guidance involved;   

• Ireland Skills Live event in the RDS on 21st to 23rd March (2019) is something 
that people should go to in order to find out more about how apprenticeship 
works;  

• Need for information about getting employers involved and new apprentices 
to come forward – data are there to get the message across;  

• People are coming through third level courses, and apprenticeships are 
possibly not being promoted as a choice;  

• 2% participation rate of females (from the DCC research report) is incredibly 
low and an obvious area for addressing along with people with disabilities as 
a largely untapped resource;  

• Recession versus full employment: a process needs to be addressed to ensure 
that continuation can happen if people are laid off from an apprenticeship;  

• Must be a balance between the process (exam) and the practicality of learning 
on-the-job;  

• Need for a single portal to match employers and apprentices;  
• High mismatch of skills in the over- and underskilled categories, with Ireland 

at the wrong end of both – apprenticeship as an area that could address that;  
• Need for more employers and more apprenticeships while many areas that 

could possibly be perceived as unattractive have good jobs available, so how 
this is promoted is key;    

• Need to look at the design of the format, the different pathways to 
employment to highlight that this is a new and unique way to become 
employed; 

• Local Economic and Community Plan (LECP) is inviting all organisations 
present to put forward ideas and suggestions for inclusion in the next phase 
of the economic plan, with consultations scheduled for 2019.  

 
 
  

58Page 71



 59 

VIII. Appendix B: Contributors  
 
 
1. Councillor Deirdre Heney, Summit Chair and Chair of the Economic 

Development and Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee (SPC) 

2. Lord Mayor of Dublin, Mr Nial Ring  

3. Dr Mary-Liz Trant, Executive Director of Skills Development, SOLAS 

4. Dr Paul Redmond, Research Officer, ESRI 

5. Mr Tony Donohoe, Head of Education and Social Policy, IBEC 

6. Ms Natasha Kinsella, Manager, Dublin Regional Skills Forum  

7. Mr David Tracey, Training Centre Manager, John Sisk & Son  

8. Ms Mary Tyrrell, Human Resources, Dublin City Council  

9. Mr Brendan McCabe, Housing Maintenance Manager, Dublin City Council  

10. Mr Dermot Carey, Director of Safety and Training, Construction Industry 

Federation 

11. Mr Ciaran King, General Manager, King & Moffatt  

12. Dr Peter Rigney, Industrial Officer, ICTU  

13. Mr Jonathan Brittain, Head of Apprenticeships, NCI 

14. Mr Aidan Flynn, General Manager, Freight Transport Association Ireland (FTAI) 

15. Dr Vivienne Patterson, Head of Skills, Engagement & Statistics, HEA 

16. Mr Greg Swift, Head of Enterprise and Economic Development, Dublin City 

Council  

Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 29th January 2019  
 

 Guinness Enterprise Centre: GEC2 Project Update  
 

 

 

Greg Swift 

Head of LEO & Economic Development 

Guinness Enterprise Centre: GEC2 Project Update 

Introduction 

The Guinness Enterprise Centre (GEC) wants to build on its success with early stage micro 
enterprises by (1) refurbishing its existing premises and (2) expanding its gross floor space by 69% in 
a project known as GEC2. It is intended that the resulting “Entrepreneurial Super Hub” will give 
additional support to economic growth in Dublin 8. 

Following a successful submission to the Regional Enterprise Development Fund (REDF), through 
Enterprise Ireland, and receipt from the Ireland Strategic Investment Fund (ISIF) of a Term Sheet for 
a loan of €7,000,000 to fund GEC2, Dublin City Council (DCC) is proposing the provision of a 
guarantee on a €7,000,000 ISIF loan to reduce the interest cost. The ISIF Term Sheet remains subject 
to further due diligence, ISIF Investment Committee approval and satisfactory loan documentation.  

Update 

At its meeting on the 21st November 2018, the South Central Area Committee was asked to consider 
a report outlining the Proposed Guarantee for the Loan to expand the Guinness Enterprise Centre 
which it subsequently recommended to Dublin City Council. 

Following this, Report No 19/2019 outlining the Proposed Guarantee was submitted to Dublin City 
Council at its meeting on the 7th January 2019 who considered the report and voted to approve the 
proposed guarantee. 

“That Dublin City Council notes the contents of Report No 19/2019 and hereby resolves to 

guarantee the proposed €7,000,000 loan (subject to agreeing terms with the ISIF) to the GEC to 

refurbish and expand its premises, subject to the sanction of the Minister for the Department of 

Housing, Planning & Local Government and the Minister for Finance”. 

Further steps 

There are a number of further steps to be taken before the guarantee can be finalised. These include 

agreeing terms with the lender (ISIF) and ensuring that all legal considerations are cleared.     

Page 75





 

 

 

Economic Development & Enterprise SPC programme of work 2019 

Policy Projects 

Local Economic & Community Plan 2019-2021 Dublin Economic Monitor – future design 

Regional  Spatial & Economic Strategy MODOS – Sustainability for Business 

Dublin Regional Enterprise Action Plan 2019-2021 Start-up Dublin 

Events Research 

MODOS – Launch Event 

 

Social Entrepreneurship 

Start-up Week Dublin 2019 Talent Attraction & Retention 

FutureScope 2019 Enterprise Space 

 

 
2019 Programme of Work 

Economic Development & Enterprise SPC  
 

 

This document sets out the table of work intended to be undertaken on behalf of the Economic 

Development & Enterprise Strategic Policy Committee of Dublin City Council during the course of 2019. 

The work is broadly divided into 4 categories of Policy, Projects, Events & Research and each of the work 

identified under these categories will be aligned with the 4 “Pillars of Economic Development” which have 

already been established. Alignment of work flow with the Economic Pillars ensures an event distribution 

of resources across our functional areas.     

 

Page 77



Policy 

 
Policy incorporates all areas of Public Policy at local and national level that EDO have either direct or indirect 
responsibility for overseeing, implementing, managing or reporting on. This work form the bulk of the 
statutory and regulator obligations for which EDO had responsibility. In general terms the content of the Policy 
section have an effect on the entire Economic Development landscape and for this reason they are not 
assigned to the pillars of economic development and rather the outputs developed as a public policy 
responses during implementation are instead assigned under the pillars. While a number of deadlines will exist 
for reporting and updating documents they generally will run through this programme of work. Where 
deadlines do exist these will be captured and incorporated into our workflow for 2019 

 

1. Local Economic & Community Plan (LECP) 2019-2021 

 
The LECP has been in existence since 2016 and is currently in the 4th year of developing an annual “Action 
Plan”. To date Action Plans have been developed for 2016, 2017 & 2018 with an outcomes report having been 
prepared for 2016 & 2017. Given the severe pressures on Local Government in terms of resources and 
available staffing to discharge this work, it is highly like that a more streamlined version the annual action plan 
will be developed to see out the remainder of the LECP.  This evolving response to the challenges faced by the 
LECP and its process is likely to include a multiyear plan to bring us out to 2021, developed in conjunction with 
the relevant key stakeholders in order to develop more impactful and meaningful action whose benefits assist 
a wider group of people. Following stakeholder engagement, this plan will be developed during the course of 
2019 in conjunction with the Community Development team with a view to publishing it in Q2/Q3 2019. 
 
  

2. Dublin Regional Enterprise Action Plan 2019-2021 

 
During the course of 2018 it was decided to shift the focus of the Regional Action Plan for Jobs (RAPJ) most 
likely as a result of the economy approaching full employment. The new iteration would instead focus on a 
Regional Enterprise development strategy following a review of the 2015 National Enterprise Strategy – 
Enterprise 2025 Renewed with the objective of having 2.3m people employed nationally by 2020 and an 
unemployment rate of no more than 5.5%. The new Regional Enterprise Action Plan to 2020 Dublin, will 
incorporate a range of activities currently being undertaken by Local Government, LEO’s, EI, IDA and other key 
stakeholders and report on their development over the period to 2020. The EDO will play a key role in 
delivering on this strategy for DCC.  
 
   

3. Regional  Spatial & Economic Strategy 

The 38 elected members of the Regional Assembly are predominantly nominated by their local authorities to 

represent the region.  One of their key tasks is to prepare a new Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES) 

to replace the existing Regional Planning Guidelines (RPGs) with additional functions requiring an economic 

strategy to be combined with the spatial strategy. The RSES will support the implementation of national 

government policies such as the emerging National Planning Framework (NPF) and will also set the framework 

for local economic development and spatial planning in each of the 12 local authorities in the region. The 

process for making the new Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy has now begun with the publication of the 

Issues Paper to inform the initial consultation period which will end on January 23rd 2019. The completion of 

the RSES is likely to have a significant impact on bother the development of the next iteration of the LECP.  

Page 78



Projects 

Projects is the term used to describe a large portion of the development work of EDO and usually involve work 

undertaken to deliver responses on either research or policy which require a significant amount of 

prototyping, development and evolution to be done before they can be delivered.  Projects will be divided 

according to the pillars of economic development.   

 

4. MODOS – Sustainability for Business Innovation & Transformation 

MODOS is a circular Economy and sustainability training programme for micro and small enterprise. Developed 

by the EDO in conjunction with the EMWRO the programme will launch to the first cohort of c15 business in 

April 2019 and run for 6 consecutive half day workshops until June 2019. A soft launch will take place in 

January 2019 with a main Launch event taking place in late February. Key stakeholders such as IBEC, SFA and 

Dublin Chamber will be critical in raising awareness of this programme. To the best of our knowledge this is 

the first programme of its kind and fits in well with the UN Sustainable Development goals and national 

climate change action responses.   

  

5. Start-up Dublin Promotion & Investment 

Start-up Dublin is the working title for the next iteration of the Dublin Commissioner for Start-ups project. It is 

intended that this office will act as an eco-system development agent for the Dublin start-up community and 

deliver a range of functions which complement the operational goals of the Local Enterprise Office. The 

primary purpose of this office will be Promotion of Dublin as a city to start a business (domestically and 

internationally) signposting of all Start-up and enterprise support, Hosting networking and briefing events, 

representation Dublin City on an international stage at event. Final plans for this office and the resources and 

currently being reviewed and a presentation will be made to the senior management team in late 2018/early 

2019 

 

6. Dublin Economic Monitor – DEM V2 Promotion & Investment 

The Dublin Economic Monitor (DEM) has become one of the core examples of cooperation between Local 

Governments and a key platform to monitor the progress of the Dublin economy is now approaching the 

publication of its 16th edition. However, it is becoming apparent that the publication is becoming tired in its 

format and not leveraging the potential of additional dynamic content which can be driven through digital 

channels. A new/updated tender will need to be completed in Q2 2019 and identify the core work to be 

developed and delivered by potential partners.  The intentions is that the next iteration of the DEM will have 

live up to date data published as available through the website (may potentially sit on the Dublin.ie platform) 

and a managed social media presence while the physical publication will be used to commission op-ed pieces 

of analysis, commentary and insights to bring to life the key metrics for each edition. Each publication will also 

minimise the amount of uninteresting data and metrics in favour of those that tell the most interesting stories. 

The EDO will play a key role in developing out this publication.   

    

 

 

Page 79



Events 

Events represent one of our primary eco-system engagement and support mechanisms where we either 

deliver an in its entirety as a public policy response or we support a third party to deliver an event which has 

positive benefits. Where a 3rd part is involved an event sponsorship form will be completed by the promoted 

and reviewed by the senior management team for EDO. On completion of this review and identification of 

suitable resources for the event, the promoter will then be informed of the terms and conditions attached to 

the sponsorship. This will include the branding and logos to be used and the terms for the successful 

drawdown of funds. Up to 70% of funds approved may be drawdown in advance of the event with the balance 

being release following delivery of a post event report.  

     

7. MODOS – Launch Event (EDO) Innovation & Transformation 

As part of the delivery of the MODOS training programme we will need to deliver a visible and effective launch 

event in February 2019 in order to pitch the program to small and micro business. This event should attract 

about 100 interested business and be used as part of a wider initiative to promote the Circular economy in the 

Dublin region.   

 

8. Local Enterprise Week 2019 (EDO/LEO) Human Development 

LEW19 is one of the key events for our colleagues in LEO and as ever we will provide a range of support to 

assist as well as delivering a number of key event such as a Social Enterprise day and a Talent attraction event. 

This will be coordinated with the LEO team and we will identify additional areas where we can support the 

delivery of this week of events to support the start-up community.   

 

9. FutureScope 2019 (EDO) Innovation & Transformation 

Futurescope is one of our key calendar event highlights taking place in the Convention Centre Dublin in March 

of 2019 and attracting c1200 attended. The EDO will be coordinating the involvement of Dublin.ie, Smart 

Docklands, SmartDublin, EDO and the DEM. We are likely to incorporate the project Start-up Dublin also. 

Details are to be confirmed but it will include a thematic vision for promoting Dublin as a city of the future… 

now.    

 

10. DEM – Launch Event (EDO) Promotion & Investment 

The next launch event of the DEM will take place in Dublin City Hall on February 7th. The focus of the event will 

be on the future of retail and we hope the event will be held in partnership with Mastercard’s City Possible 

project and add fresh insights into the retail landscape. We anticipate attracting between 150 – 200 attendees 

to the morning event and will engage an external PR company to assist in amplifying the message.  

 

 

Page 80



Research 

Research is part of the backbone of the work of the EDO. The ability to identify thematic topics across a range 
of sectors and perform research sprints, reports, analysis and deep dives and well as developing the expertise 
to identify suitable data sets and sources to help articulate work, is critical to developing an evidence led 
approach to public policy making. Development of a structured research tool is currently underway which will 
assist researchers in performing this work in a planned and organised way and manage work load.   

 

11. Social Entrepreneurship Human Development 

The existing social entrepreneurship eco-system is somewhat confused with many participants and it is unclear 

if the resources being applied are having a positive net benefit. This piece of research seeks to analysis this 

policy space, identify the key sectoral groups and stakeholders and collect the existing policy responses at local 

and national level. This research will form the basis for a proposed DCC Social Enterprise Policy.  

 

12. Talent Attraction & Retention Human Development 

Talent attraction & retention represent one of the key challenges facing Dublin. It is critical to the ongoing 

economic success of the city that we are able to attract and retain enough workers to satisfy the demands of 

the MNC investing in the city. It is proposed to commission a piece of research to deep-dive into this topic and 

try to identify key responses within the remit of local government which can assist with this issue.  

   

13. DCC Research Framework Innovation & Transformation 

The DCC research framework is intended to offer a structured and managed system for delivering validated 

and structured research for the EDO team. The idea is that by collaborating, firstly with a third level institution 

our researchers would get the academic guidance necessary to ask the right question while assisting in guiding 

research as it develops and secondly, with a private sector institution in order to validate and verify the 

findings. This is based on the triple-helix model and offers a range of options to support collaboration and 

insights. 

    

14. Your Dublin Your Voice Human Development 

Your Dublin Your Voice is a quarterly survey platform that allows DCC to engage with specialist panels of 

citizens across a range of topics. Since the re-activation of the platform EDO have commissioned 2 surveys, 1 

around culture and a 2nd around Retail sentiment. The intention is to commission 1 further survey each 

quarter.   

 

 

 

Page 81





1 
 

 

 
Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Economic Development & Enterprise  

Tuesday 23rd October 2018  
 

Agenda Item 7: Management Reports 
 

 
 

Contents 

1. Dublin.ie .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. International Relations.................................................................................................................... 5 

3. Local Enterprise Office: Mentoring, Training & Financial Grants ................................................... 7 

4. Economic Development Office: .................................................................................................... 12 

 

Upcoming Event & Dates for your diary 

Event Economic Pillar Date/Venue 

1. EDE SPC Meeting  Public Policy Tuesday 29
th

 January  

2. MODOS – Sustainability 
Training for Business 

Innovation & Transformation 24
th

 January Wood Quay 

3. Dublin Economic Monitor Promotion & Investment February 7
th

 2019 City Hall 

4. LECP Briefing Human Development Tuesday February 12
th

 Oak 
Room, Mansion House 

5. Dublin-Belfast Conference Promotion & Investment Belfast February 27
th

 & 28
th

 

6. Local Enterprise Week 2019 Human Development March 5
th

 – 10
th

 various venue 

7. Futurescope 2019 Innovation & Transformation CCD Thursday 28
th

 March 

 

 
 

Page 83



2 
 

1. Dublin.ie 

 

New Structure & Content Re-write  

The re-structure and re-write of the site is progressing with 115+ new pages completed. The new 

content has been tailored to attract overseas students, investors, skilled talent, while still being of 

value to a local audience. 

The team are working on a ‘staging’ copy of the site where all of the structural and content changes 

will be made. This copy of the site will swap in for the older one by end of Q1 2019. 

Acquiring photography of Dublin  

In re-writing the entire site, we are also required to partner the copy with striking photography. 

We’ve been working with photographers to acquire great photography, some of which has required 

specific shoots, and we hope to complete that work in February. 

 

 

 

Story updates 

In excess of 270 stories have been produced for Dublin.ie since early 2016. Unlike news stories, they 

are intended to be used time and again but some have become outdated. Our content agency is 

reviewing these stories and updating them throughout Q1 2019 

User Testing 

We’re always looking for ways to make the site better and decided to undertake a fresh round of 

user testing in November. It was primarily centred on the What’s On listings but the researchers also 

Page 84



3 
 

ascertained whether the test users were aware of the site previously. We learned a significant 

amount from the testing and are incorporating changes based on the findings. 

New roles 

With the approval of the Assistant Chief Executive, two new roles for the Unit have been created. 

They are, Social Media &Online Marketing Co-ordinator and Stakeholder Engagement & Offline 

Marketing Co-ordinator. We will be working with HR in the coming weeks to start the recruitment 

process.  

Winter Lights, Christmas and New Year content 

Working with the Events Unit, Dublin.ie hosted Winter Lights content which included video, photos 

and a map of the city centre lighting displays. We also built our regular page for Christmas in Dublin 

at https://dublin.ie/christmas featuring events, videos and photos. Staff also logged on over the 

break to transition the site from Christmas to New Year content. 

What’s On listings 

The team have been re-working how events are compiled the site. Our new approach will ensure a 

consistency and quality in the events we feature. 

 

 

 

 

Page 85

https://dublin.ie/christmas


4 
 

Brand Promotion 

We continue to promote the place brand for Dublin with merchandise including bags, notebooks, 

pins and t-shirts.  

Newsletter 

The audience for the Dublin.ie newsletter has passed 2,300 subscribers and continues to enjoy 

engagement rates above the industry norms. Issues are sent on a fortnightly basis featuring 

upcoming events & festivals and links to our latest articles. You can view previous issues and sign up 

at: https://dublin.ie/newsletter  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86

https://dublin.ie/newsletter


5 
 

2. International Relations: 

 

December 

70th Anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights 

To mark the 70th Anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Lord Mayor Nial 

Ring hosted the reading of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights at City Hall on 10th December.  

On the same evening, more than 10 capital cities across Europe also hosted readings.   

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights was proclaimed 70 years ago by the United Nations 

General Assembly in Paris on 10 December 1948. It affirms the rights of all people to work, asylum, 

nationality, and a fair trial; to freedoms including movement, assembly, association, opinion and 

expression and to live free from slavery, torture, arbitrary arrest and discrimination. 

The evening also marked the 20th Anniversary of the Declaration on Human Rights Defenders.  

Dublin City Council, in collaboration with Dublin Front Line Defenders and the Department of Foreign 

Affairs, a lights projection showing the faces of imprisoned, threatened and at-risk human rights 

defenders (HRD’s) from around the world was shown on Palace Street Building. 

The Lord Mayor was assisted in reading passages of the UDHR by Michael Gaffey, Ambassador, 

Permanent Mission of Ireland to the United Nations Office in Geneva, Nurcan Baysal, Kurdish 

journalist and Laureate of the 2018 The Front Line Defenders Award for Human Rights Defenders at 

Risk and Susan Herman, President, American Civil Liberties Union. 

 

Chinese Personnel Exchange Programme 

Dublin City Council’s twinning with the City of Beijing was further enhanced last year when three 

officials from Beijing Municipality travelled to Dublin to work in Dublin City Council for a period of 

eight weeks.  Their backgrounds were in City Planning and Land Resources Management, 

Commission for Reform and Development and Commission of Commerce. 

They were placed in Planning & Property Development, Corporate Project Support Office, Economic 

Development & Enterprise and the Housing Observatory.  They brought with them their own work 

experiences and practices but were very keen to learn about Dublin’s practices and policies which 

would perhaps help them to shape Beijing’s policies from what they learned from time spent in the 

City Council.  Concluding their stay, they were hosted by Lord Mayor, Nial Ring in the Mansion 

House.  

Beijing would welcome staff from Dublin City Council to work with their counterparts in Beijing 

Municipality. 

 

 

Page 87



6 
 

2019 

Greater Seattle Partners 

Greater Seattle Partners (GSP) a public-private partnership that promotes and drives international 

trade, business and investment for the Greater Seattle region along with Seattle Metro Chamber are 

leading a 4-day International Leadership Mission (ILM) to Ireland in May 2019.  

An advanced mission from GSP and chamber staff, travelled to Dublin 13 – 16 Jan and met with and 

met with the Owen Keegan, Chief Executive to share information about the ILM, learn about the City 

of Dublin’s priorities and how ILM might be able to feature Dublin City in their May agenda. 

In May, the ILM will bring elected officials, c-suite executives and leadership from education and the 

non-profit sector to benchmark Greater Seattle against Greater Dublin and Ireland; examine how 

Ireland is dealing with critical issues that their region may also be facing; learn about Ireland’s 

unique story and how Dublin and Ireland are harnessing their assets to compete in the global 

economy and develop relationships with an important business and trade partner. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



7 
 

3. Local Enterprise Office: Mentoring, Training & Financial Grants 
 

 

Local Enterprise Office: M2 (Training & Mentoring) 

 
 

Promotion and communication of LEO Dublin City Services 
 
LEO E-newsletters 
The LEO e-zine promoting events and providing information on supports offered by the LEO office is 
circulated by e-mail each month.  Additionally bespoke newsletters are developed on an adhoc basis 
regarding specific networks/events/grants. The following emails were sent during: 

 November: Women in Business Network Awards e-zine notifying potential entrants, Founder 
Institute Accelerate Programme notification,  

 December: LEO Dublin City e-zine and thankyou e-zine to the outgoing mentor panel 

 January: LEO Dublin City e-zine 
The e-zine is a valuable promotional tool for the range of events provided to businesses in the city.   
 
Facebook Advertising 
In June we started to utilise paid promotion on facebook instead of solely using organic search. It has 
meant that we can target individuals by age, location, demographics, interests etc. targeting them 
also with relevant messages in relation to grant funding, start your own business courses and 
generating brand awareness of LEO Dublin City and our services. From June through to end of 2018, 
we reached 559,770 relevant people via facebook i.e. those that had identified an interest in 
business or entrepreneurship. It’s a highly cost efficient and measurable medium to target and 
connect with additional clients.  
 
Dublin City FM 
Recent Promotions 

 December: Dublin Christmas Flea Market – a number of exhibitors were interviewed as well 
as the event organiser and a live feed from the venue 

 January: Showcase 2019 – 4 exhibitors were interviewed on 15th January  
 
Events: Completed November 2018 – January 2019 

Event Location Date / Time 

Hack Access Dublin - The objective of 

#HackAccessDublin was to make Dublin 

inclusive to people of all abilities by coming 

up with solution by hacking the access 

obstacles in our city.  

Google, Barrow Street, Dublin 4 2nd – 4th Nov, 

5pm 2nd Nov – 

6pm 4th Nov 

Startup Week Dublin 

http://www.dublincity.ie/dublin%E2%80%99s

-entrepreneurs-assemble-take-part-first-

startup-week-dublin  

Various venues across Dublin City 19th – 23rd Nov 

Page 89

http://www.dublincity.ie/dublin%E2%80%99s-entrepreneurs-assemble-take-part-first-startup-week-dublin
http://www.dublincity.ie/dublin%E2%80%99s-entrepreneurs-assemble-take-part-first-startup-week-dublin
http://www.dublincity.ie/dublin%E2%80%99s-entrepreneurs-assemble-take-part-first-startup-week-dublin


8 
 

Startup Week Dublin was held this year for 

the first time, adding a highly engaging 

programme of over 30 events to those listed 

in 57 countries, attracting 100,000 

participants globally.  The community builders 

across Dublin came together with the support 

of Economic Development and Enterprise 

staff to put a great series of events together 

that showcased some of the best talent and 

supports available for Start Ups, including 

state supports and those provided by the 

Local Enterprise Offices.  Joining this global 

event series put Dublin on the TechStars 

platform and attracted local and international 

participants.  

Dublin Book Festival 

Ireland’s most successful book festival 

showcasing supports and develops Irish 

publishing by programming, publicising and 

selling Irish published books, their authors, 

editors & contributors, with panel discussion 

by facilitated by LEO Dublin City. 

http://www.dublinbookfestival.com/category

/news/welcome-2015/  

Smock Alley Theatre, Dublin 8 15th – 18th Nov 

Start Up Ballymun 

Promoting enterprise & business 

opportunities in Ballymun and North Dublin. 

The event objective was to encourage people 

in this area to consider entrepreneurship as a 

viable employment option, to increase the 

areas business profile and to welcome 

businesses from outside the area, to consider 

setting up a base in Ballymun or North Dublin. 

Civic Centre Ballymun, Dublin 11 21st Nov 

Women in Tech Awards 

Ireland’s first annual celebration of women 

and diversity in the technology industry. 

http://womenxtech.com/   

RDS Concert Hall, Dublin 4 22nd Nov 

LEO Dublin City Women in Business Network Royal College of Physicians, Kildare 5th December 

Page 90

http://www.dublinbookfestival.com/category/news/welcome-2015/
http://www.dublinbookfestival.com/category/news/welcome-2015/
http://womenxtech.com/


9 
 

Awards 

An event celebrating female entrepreneurship 

in Dublin City & recognising outstanding 

business performance. 

Street 

Dublin Christmas Flea Market – This large 

scale Christmas Market with over 150 stalls 

showcasing some of Dublin’s best up-and-

coming crafts persons, designers, vintage and 

retro collectors and small independent 

creative businesses will be trading over 6 days 

in the Docklands.  This market attracted over 

35,000 visitors in 2017 when it ran over 4 

days. http://www.dublinchristmasflea.ie 

The Point Square, Docklands 8th and 9th and 

13th to 16th Dec 

Fresh Resolutions – LEO Dublin City was a 

sponsor to this health and wellbeing event, to 

support attendees in pursuit of a better year 

ahead i.e. enhancing energy levels & 

productivity to improve their resilience in 

running their own business. 

Dublin Castle, Dublin 2 5th Jan 

Trading Online Voucher Information Session – 

explanatory session assisting eligible 

businesses in developing their online 

presence 

Wood Quay Venue, Dublin 8 11th Jan 

Showcase Ireland – Ireland’s Creative Expo RDS, Dublin 4 20th – 23rd 

January 

 
 
Mentoring 
 

2018 (as at 31/12/2018)         

Mentoring Target YTD 2017 Varience 

1 Hour 200 177 225 -48 

3 Hour   111 

new 
product 111 

6 Hour 300 228 324 -96 

Brexit   3 

new 
product 

 Clinics 50 48 45 3 

BAC Participants 500 594 505 89 

Individual mentoring 500 516 549 -33 
One to One & Group 

mentoring 1000 1110 1054 56 

Page 91

http://www.dublinchristmasflea.ie/


10 
 

 
In 2019, the 1 hour offering is no longer being offered. Further to client research, mentees gained 
the most from more sustained periods of mentoring.  
 
 

TRAINING – Scheduled for Q1 2019  

  

January  

Date Course Title 

08/01/2019 Start Your Own Business 

11/01/2019 Trading Online Voucher Information Session 

16/01/2019 Social Media Strategy 

19/01/2019 How to generate an income while still keeping the day job 

21/01/2019 Start your own music course 2019 

26/01/2019 Book keeping for small business - full day 

  

February  

Date Course Title 

02/02/2019 Saturday Start your own business February 2019 

05/02/2019 Create a free wordpress website - 1 Evening 

08/02/2019 Food Started February 

12/02/2019 Start Your Own Business February 2019 

16/02/2019 Master Your Tax  - Essential Tax for SME's - 1 day 

27/02/2019 Search engine optimisation (SEO) and web analytics - 1 Evening 

  

March  

Date Course Title 

05/03/2019 Recruitment & retention strategies for small business - Enterprise Week 2019 

06/03/2019 Social Selling - the key to soft selling - Enterprise Week 2019 

19/03/2019 Start Your Own Business March 2019 

19/03/2019 Smartphone video and photography for the web - 1 Evening 

 
 
Management Development Training Courses 
 

Management 

Development Courses 

Lean for Micro: commencing 31st January 

The Lean for Micro Dublin is aimed at owners/managers and key staff 

members of small businesses who wish to gain an introduction to lean 

concepts and allow them to gain a practical understanding of lean 

principles by undertaking a focused assignment with expert mentoring 

support. https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-

Events/Management-Development/  

Hi-Start: recruitment commenced 

This programme assists ambitious early stage growth focused 

companies to identify and build foundations required to secure 

Page 92

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Management-Development/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Management-Development/


11 
 

investment and scale the business in international markets. 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-

Events/Management-Development/Hi-Start-Management-

Development-Programme.html  

 
 
 
 
 
Women in Business Network  
 
The women in business network had the following meetings during November & December: 

 14th November: Meet the Entrepreneur, Aoife Lawler from the Irish Fairy Door Company  

 5th December: The Women in Business Network Awards 

 16th January: ‘Get the most out of you in 2019’ speakers Ciara Conlon author and Treasa 
Spragg of ‘Rise Before your Bull and other habits of Successful People’The Revolution Project 

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-
Business/Network-Events/  
 
 
 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93

https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Management-Development/Hi-Start-Management-Development-Programme.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Management-Development/Hi-Start-Management-Development-Programme.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Training-Events/Management-Development/Hi-Start-Management-Development-Programme.html
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-Business/Network-Events/
https://www.localenterprise.ie/DublinCity/Start-or-Grow-your-Business/Networking/Women-in-Business/Network-Events/


12 
 

4. Economic Development Office: 

 

Policy Projects 

Local Economic & Community Plan 2019-2021 Dublin City Summit Series 2019 

Economic Development, & Enterprise and Strategic Policy Committee MODOS – Sustainability for Business 

Dublin Regional Enterprise Action Plan 2019-2021 Start-up Dublin 

Social Entrepreneurship Policy MasterCard – City Possible 

Regional  Spatial & Economic Strategy Dublin Economic Monitor – future design 

Dublin City Climate Action Plan North Eastern Economic Corridor 

DCC Corporate Plan LECP Projects 

Dublin City Development Plan Promoting Dublin as an business location 

 Dublin Bay Biosphere 

 Xpand Project (DEM Dashboard) 

 Kilmainham Mill/Newcommen Bank 

Events Research 

Dublin City Summit Series 2019 

 

Social Entrepreneurship 

MODOS – Launch Event Talent Attraction & Retention 

Local Enterprise Week 2019 DCC Research Framework 

FutureScope 2019 Your Dublin Your Voice 

DEM – Launch Event The Future of Retail 

NEEC – C8 Conference Enterprise Space 

Offset Dublin regional Skills Analysis 

Start-up Week Dublin 2019 Markets Strategy 

Up-Starter (LEW19) LECP Research Topics 

Responsible innovation summit Dublin Bay Biosphere 

Hard Working Call Hero’s (HWCH)  

 

 
 
 

Page 94



13 
 

Departmental Update: 
 
Policy: 
 

1. Local Economic & Community Plan (LECP): Human Development 
 
The Local Economic & Community Plan (LECP) Action Plan 2018 has been completed, presented 

to the main council for noting and a hard copy distributed to all council members. A breifing 

session scheduled for October 10th was moved to the evening of February 12th 2019 and will be 

hosetd by the Lord Mayor in the Oak Room in the Mansion House. This event will showcase 

community initiatives and social enterprises. A further re-engagement briefing with stakeholders 

in relation to the LECP Action Plan for 2019-2021 is planned for April 2019 where information 

will be shared by Future Analytics regarding the changing Socio-Economic profile of Dublin.   

 

2. Dublin Region Enterprsie Action Plan 2019-2020 (DRAPJ): Innovation & Transformaiton 

  

Mary MacSweeny continues to lead on the implementation of the 2020 DRAPJ.  The steering 

group has agreed to refoucse the plan on more targeted objectives for the remainder of its 

lifecycle. Specific actions are being agreed to be delivered across the region with each 

stakeholder taking responsibility for leading the delivery.  It has been proposed that EDO will 

develop a special edition of the Dublin Economic Monitor highlighting context and contributors 

to job creation, talent retention and attraction in Dublin Region and how these challenges are 

being addressed. This work will continue into 2019.  

 

Ongoing work being undertaken by Economic Development office (EDO) 
 

Projects: 
 

1. Start-up Week Dublin November 19th – 23rd: Placemaking & Clustering 

As part of its placemaking function EDO partnered with TechStars to deliver the first Irish version 

of Start-up Week - Dublin. Following significant support for the project over the course of a 10 

week lead in time, Start-up Week Dublin saw over 50 events taking place through the city with 

over 115 speakers and attracting more than 2000 attendees. In terms of social media 

engagement we believe this may be to most successful event DCC have been involved in to date 

creating over 36m potential impression and over 7k individual tweets using the official 

#StartupWeekDub.  

 

Page 95



14 
 

  

 

The weeks “basecamp” was hosted in the Civic Offices Woodquay and a number of high profile 

event took place there including the launch and closing event, the #1stFriBrekki and the 

SmartDublin SBIR review event. The Lord Mayor of Dublin was in attendance for the closing 

event and also spoke at it.  

A final and comprehensive review of the event is yet to take place but initial data and feedback 

indicates that the event was an immense success in positioning Dublin City Council and a lead in 

the support of business and Startup in the City. This should also assist in our ability to promote 

and attract attendees for Local Enterprise Week 2019.  

At this stage is likely that EDO will commit to further a 2-3 sponsorship programme for the event 

with a likely delivery partner being the next iteration of “Start-up Dublin” if the revised plans for 

the office are approved.  Work is underway planning for the 2019 edition 

2. FDi Global Cities of the Future 2018/2019: Placemaking & Clustering 

Results of the latest fDi ranking indicate that overall Dublin city has performed very 

competitively against its international peers placing 3rd behind Singapore and London in the 

overall ranking. Dublin also came 1st in the Large Cities and Economic Potential categories and 

2nd in the business friendliness rankings. Alice PR have been retained to drive awareness of this 

performance and an embargoes press release and notice were issues on Friday 7th Dec to engage 

with media outlets in advance of the ranking’s being released.   

3. North Eastern Economic Corridor NEEC/C8: Placemaking & Clustering 

A further meeting of the cross border C8 initiative took place in Belfast on 29th November and it 

was agreed that a conference would be held in Belfast on February 28th 2019 to develop 

stakeholder buy-in for the project. The CEO of DCC and the Lord Mayor of Dublin have 

committed to attend this event. The EDO are currently developing a concept of an “Hub” to be 

located in each of the areas which will coordinate a range of services already being provided by 

the Local Authorities such as SmartCities, Start-up and business supports, heritage and tourism 

and research and advocacy.    

4. Higher Speed Rail Project – Dublin – Belfast: Innovation and transformation 

Following the completion of the pre-feasibility study into upgrading the Dublin Belfast rail line, 

commissioned by Local Government along the corridor, the final report has been circulated to all 

Page 96



15 
 

elected councillors in Dublin City, Fingal, Louth and Meath on Monday 10th December.  DCC 

intend to present it to a future SPC meeting and ARUP have committed to making senior official 

available for this presentation.  

5. MODOS - Sustainability Training for Business: Innovation & Transformation 

Following a significant period of stakeholder consultation, EDO in conjunction with the Eastern 

Midlands Regional Waste Office (EMRWO) is developing a Circular Economy and sustainability 

training programme for small and micro enterprise. The programme will have a soft launch with 

stakeholders in the Wood Quay Venue on January 24th 2019 with a further official launch with 

business and industry in February 2019. The programme will be delivered over the course of 6 

consecutive weeks in April/May 2019.  

6. Dublin City Summit Series – Apprenticeships: Human Development 

The latest in the DCSS took place on November 21st in City Hall and was focused on 

Apprenticeships and the role it plays in developing a resilient economy of opportunity for all 

residents in Dublin. The summit saw over 50 attendees from a range of public bodies, educators, 

private sector companies and bodies as well as apprenticeship providers who all contributed to 

the proceedings.  

A comprehensive report is being prepared on the summit and will be circulated to all 

stakeholders once completed. Initial feedback indicated that the summit series has significant 

value in terms of bring together key stakeholders in an impartial setting and providing a platform 

for sharing ideas and updating on current work and progress. This DCSS is likely to be expanded 

in 2019 with “Retail” or “social enterprise” having been identified as a potential topic.  

The final report along with a letter of recommendations will be submitted to the Minister for 

education on behalf of the Council.  

 

 

7. Dublin Economic Monitor : Promotion & Investment 

The 15th edition of the DEM was launched at an event in Malahide Castle led by Fingal County 

Council, on November 8th.  Prof. John Fitzgerald was commissioned to write a 2 page article on 

the economic impact of climate change for the Dublin region and Mr. Paul Reid CEO Fingal Co. 

Co. wrote a further article on a body of research conducted by Fingal County Council into the 

skills and training need for the area. A review of the DEM is currently underway and the current 

tender is completed. Jamie Cudden and Steven O’Gara are leading this review and will be 

reporting back with recommendation.  

We have committed to work with a project out of Belfast university which is EU funded on using 

the data collected for the DEM to develop an interactive and predictive dashboard for the 

region. We are also exploring further developing the MasterCard datasets on the spending pulse 

to generate a “retails league table” for Dublin City. Early discussions with LinkedIn have also 

begun to develop a series talent attraction and retention metric for Dublin.    

Page 97



16 
 

The intention is the that next iteration of the DEM will provide up to date data digitally on an 

ongoing basis as information and rankings become available with the quarterly publication 

continuing with selected thematic content driven by insights and commentary rather than static 

information.   

This next launch of the DEM will be hosted by DCC and held in Dublin City Hall on the morning of 

Thursday 7th February. The focus of this edition will be on retail and David Fitzsimons from retail 

excellence Ireland has been commissioned to write an article exploring the future of retail. A 

number of key contributors are being approached about participating in a panel discussion.  

8. Pendulum Summit 9th-10th January: Human Development 

The Pendulum Summit 2019 was a business and self empowerment summit that took place in 

the Convention Centre Dublin. This is now the third year that the Economic Development Office 

and Dublin City Council have supported and sponsored this event. The Summit provides an 

opportunity for individuals and businesses to focus their goals for the New Year ahead with 

world leading motivational and business leaders speaking at the event. In total over 52 of LEO 

Dublin City or of the Economic Development Office were given the opportunity to attend the 

event, which provided great learning and networking opportunities for entrepreneurs and those 

working in support organisations.  

 

 

 

Research: 

1. Social Entrepreneurship Policy: – Human Development 

The Economic Development Office have undertaken a comprehensive review of the Social 

Entrepreneurship eco-system for Dublin City which will seek to identify gaps in the landscape, 

potential efficiency gains from removal of duplication and highlight potential opportunities for 

new initiatives to support the sector. An interim report was made to the last meeting of the 

Economic Development and Enterprise SPC and the completed report is expected in Q1 2019.    

2. Talent retention & Attraction: Human Development 

Following a workshop facilitated by Deloitte, the EDO has a clearer understanding of the 

challenges facing Dublin City in terms of attracting and retaining talent in the face of global 

competition.  The out puts of this work will form the basis of the scope for an OPG mini tender 

competition and it is hoped to commission this work during 2019. The intention is that this 

report would be coordinated with a talent attraction and retention metric being explored as part 

of the revised DEM. There is also potential to host a Dublin City Summit series around the 

outputs.   

3. Enterprise Space: Placemaking & Clusters 

Page 98



17 
 

Access to affordable and accessible enterprise space is one of the critical challenges affecting the 

business and start-up community in Dublin City. Following the development of an Enterprise 

Space Survey in 2017 it is intended to reactivate this survey and run it again on an annual basis. 

Given how much the landscape has changed in the last 18 months we should see a very 

interesting picture emerging. Being able to run this survey on an annual basis will offer us very 

useful decision making data.  

4. Dublin Bay Biosphere: Innovation & Transformation 

The Dublin Bay Biosphere represents a unique opportunity to leverage the world largest urban 

biosphere to develop and promote sustainable business and eco-tourism. The intentions here is 

to identify international best practice globally in how to develop these type of sustainable 

business clusters that can promote sustainable products and practices that enhance the lives of 

citizen and the reputation of the city of Dublin. The research will offer us a better understanding 

of how to go about doing this as a best in class project. This would be a large multi-agency 

project with a range of key stakeholders involved.  

 

Page 99




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Meeting held on 23rd October 2018 & Matters Arising
	3 "Your Dublin Your Voice" : Retail Survey
	4 Dublin City Summit Series: Apprenticeship Summit Outcomes Report 2018
	4a Submission of Letter from SPC Chair to Minister for Education
	4b Apprenticeship Summit Outcomes Report
	Bookmark 1

	5 Guinness Enterprise Centre: GEC2 Project Update
	6 SPC Programme of Work 2019
	7 Economic Development & Enterprise Management Reports



